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PUBLIC ORDER COMMISSION
EMERGENCY SUR LETAT
COMMISSION D’URGENCE

February 2023

To Her Excellency

The Governor General in Council
May it please Your Excellency:

Pursuant to Order in Council P.C. 2022-392, | have inquired into the circumstances
that led to the declaration of a Public Order Emergency being issued by the Federal
Government and the measures taken by the Governor in Council for dealing with the
Public Order Emergency that was in effect from February 14 to 23, 2022, along with

other matters set out in the Order in Council.

With this letter, | respectfully submit my report.

il o T W

Paul S. Rouleau

Commissioner
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Volume 1 — Executive Summary

Executive Summary

1. Introduction

The federal Emergencies Act was enacted in 1988, and for more than thirty years,
it had never been used. That record of disuse, in many respects, reflects success.
When emergencies arise, as they inevitably do, governments must have the ability to
respond promptly and effectively. Fortunately, governments are normally able to deal
with emergencies without having to rely on a statute like the Emergencies Act, which

grants powers that we would not, in ordinary circumstances, think appropriate.

Until February 14, 2022, the Emergencies Act had lain dormant. Then, for the first
time, the Federal Government proclaimed a Public Order Emergency. This was
done in response to a series of protests that occurred throughout the country, which
were, in part, a reaction to years of public health measures enacted to address the
COVID-19 pandemic. At the centre of these protests was the Freedom Convoy, a
loosely organized collection of groups who travelled across the country to Ottawa,
entrenching themselves there for three weeks and demanding radical change to

government policies.

There is little doubt that the COVID-19 pandemic and the responses of various levels of
government played a significant role in how the Freedom Convoy movement emerged.
Some Canadians welcomed the public health measures imposed by governments.
Others believed that they did not go far enough. Still others believed that government
had overstepped its legitimate authority and restricted rights unjustly. It is not surprising
that many who fell into the last group engaged in a range of protests against what

they viewed as unjust measures. In the case of the Freedom Convoy, rules about
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cross-border travel were the immediate cause of protests. Commercial truckers, who
throughout the pandemic had performed critical work in difficult circumstances, had
been able to pass the Canada — U.S. border with ease compared to other travellers.
However, starting in early 2022, both Canadian and American authorities imposed
COVID-19 vaccination requirements on truckers crossing the border. For those cross-
border truckers who chose not to be vaccinated, these new rules threatened their

livelihoods.

Using social media and existing networks of contacts, individuals in the trucking
industry and their allies sought to mobilize a series of truck convoys to Ottawa to
protest these rules. The results were beyond anything that the organizers could have
imagined. Convoys measuring kilometres in length moved toward Ottawa. Thousands
of supporters cheered them on by the roadside. Millions of dollars were donated to
support their cause. Upon arrival in Ottawa, the convoys paralyzed the downtown
core. Roads were filled with trucks, parks became encampments, and sidewalks
teemed with protesters. They entrenched themselves, and some of the protesters

claimed that they would remain until all COVID-19 mandates were lifted.

Ottawa was not the only site of major protests. In Windsor, Ontario, protesters
blockaded the Ambassador Bridge, Canada’s busiest commercial link to the United
States. In Coutts, Alberta, another border crossing was blockaded until a Royal
Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) raid uncovered a cache of firearms and an alleged
conspiracy to murder police. In dozens of other communities across the country,
protests large and small took place that were inspired, at least in part, by the Freedom

Convoy.

By February 14, there were some signs of improvement, but significant uncertainties
remained. Officials within the Federal Government engaged in intense deliberations
about what was needed to end the protests, secure the borders, and protect the
national interest. Existing legal tools were seen to be inadequate, and provincial and

municipal governments were thought to lack the plans or power to end the protests.
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Cabinet concluded that there was only one option left: invoking the Emergencies Act.
Following the invocation of the Act, some protesters left Ottawa by choice. Others
remained and were forced out by police. The additional protests that government
officials feared would erupt either did not arise or were not as disruptive as the
protests in Ottawa. On February 23, a little more than a week after the Public Order

Emergency was proclaimed, the Government announced that it was over.

2. The Public Order Emergency Commission

The Emergencies Act grants extraordinary powers, but balances this with a range
of accountability mechanisms. One of its most significant mechanisms is that, when
the Act is used, the Government is required to hold an inquiry at the conclusion
of the emergency. Commissions of inquiry are independent bodies appointed by
government with a mission to investigate a matter of public importance. They perform
two important functions: They make findings of fact, and they make recommendations
for the future. When unforeseen, disruptive, or otherwise significant events occur that
impact the lives of Canadians, the public has a right to know what happened and why

it happened, and to learn lessons from those experiences.

On April 25, 2022, the Governor in Council appointed me to conduct an Inquiry into
the 2022 Public Order Emergency. | was given two different mandates to fulfill. The
first was found in the Emergencies Act itself, which requires the Inquiry to examine
“the circumstances that led to the declaration being issued and the measures taken
for dealing with the emergency.” This mandate from Parliament is one of public
accountability. The public is entitled to know why the Government proclaimed
an emergency, and whether the actions that it took were appropriate. My second
mandate is contained in the Order in Council appointing me. In addition to examining
the circumstances that led to the proclamation of the Public Order Emergency, it

directs me to examine the following:
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» the evolution, goals, leadership, and organization of the convoy movement
and border protests, as well as the participants;

+ the impact of domestic and foreign funding, including crowdsourcing
platforms;

» the impact, role, and sources of misinformation and disinformation, including
the use of social media;

» the economic and other impacts of the blockades; and

 the efforts of police and other responders prior to and after the declaration.

The Commission was asked to examine these issues “to the extent relevant to the
circumstances of the declaration and measures taken.” In other words, while these
topics are important and worthy of attention, it was the mandate given to me by

Parliament that drove the Commission’s work.

Conducting this Inquiry presented a number of challenges. By far, the greatest
challenge that | faced was time. The Emergencies Act itself sets out the deadline for
the Inquiry to file its Report in Parliament. From the day | was appointed Commissioner,
| had only 300 days to file this Report. To put that number in context, the Air India
Inquiry had a little more four years to complete its work. As a result, this Commission
was required to work at an accelerated pace. During our public hearings, over the
course of 31 days, | heard from 76 witnesses and received more than 8,900 exhibits
into evidence. Immediately afterward, | held an additional week of policy hearings, in

which a further 50 experts testified.

| am proud of the hearings that the Commission held. They provided a level of insight
and transparency into government decision making that is unusual. The public heard
testimony from protesters; police; municipal, provincial, and federal civil servants;
and political leaders from a range of governments. Eight Cabinet ministers, including
the prime minister, were subjected to hours of examination and cross-examination in

open hearings.
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Moreover, the Commission gained access to Government records at a level rarely
seen in public inquiries. Commission counsel had access to classified information
that would normally be unavailable to anyone outside of the Government. Even more
significantly, as a result of considerable efforts by the Commission, the Government
agreed to waive Cabinet confidence over the various inputs that were before Cabinet
when it deliberated on whether to invoke the Emergencies Act. In the 371 federal
inquiries that have been held since Confederation, this is only the fourth time that

such a waiver has been given.

This Report is another way in which the Commission seeks to maintain accountability
and confidence in our institutions. In these pages, | have attempted to consolidate the
hundreds of hours of testimony and thousands of pages of evidence that | have heard
and reviewed into a single account of the events of January and February 2022.
| hope that, for all those who want a better understanding of the circumstances that

led to the first-ever invocation of the Emergencies Act, this Report will meet that need.

3. Emergencies and the law

Before turning to the evidence obtained by the Commission, | believe it is important to

address the legal framework that regulates how governments respond to emergencies.

3.1 Jurisdiction over emergencies

Canada is a federation, which means that powers are divided between federal and
provincial governments. Most authority to respond to emergencies rests with the
provinces. It is the provinces that have jurisdiction over property and civil rights,
and, generally, matters of a local nature. By exercising these powers, provinces and
municipalities play a primary role in addressing emergencies occurring at the local or
regional level. Even in national or international emergencies, provinces can take an

active role in responding.
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Under the Constitution Act, 1867, the Federal Government has a residual power to
make laws and exercise temporary powers in relation to national emergencies. When
acting under this power, Parliament has temporary, complete jurisdiction to legislate
on all matters regarding the national emergency, including those that are normally

exclusively under provincial jurisdiction.

Every jurisdiction in Canada has laws that are intended to provide a legal framework
for responding to public emergencies. At the federal level, Canada has two main
statutes that address emergency management: the Emergencies Act and the
Emergency Management Act. The Emergency Management Act sets out federal
roles and responsibilities for emergency prevention, preparedness, response, and
recovery. The Emergencies Act, which is the focus of this Inquiry, regulates how the
Federal Government can invoke extraordinary powers to respond to emergencies, as

well as how that power is restrained, overseen, and ultimately reviewed.

Each province and territory also has emergency management legislation that governs
their responses and specifies the powers and responsibilities of local governments
with respect to emergencies. As well, Indigenous governments implement emergency
measures by exercising a range of jurisdictions, including treaty rights and delegated

powers.

When an event causes severe or widespread disruption, multiple levels of government
may declare an emergency and exercise their authority to manage the event
simultaneously. This is what happened with the February 14, 2022, Public Order
Emergency. In addition to the Federal Government invoking the Emergencies Act,
the City of Ottawa declared an emergency on February 6, 2022, and the Province of
Ontario made a declaration of emergency on February 11, 2022. The City of Windsor

declared an emergency on February 14, 2022.
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3.2 The War Measures Act

Before the Emergencies Act existed, the Federal Government responded to certain
emergencies by using the War Measures Act (WMA). As its name suggests, the WMA
was focused on a narrow set of emergencies; namely, war, invasion, insurrection,
and apprehended insurrection. When Canada declared war on Germany in 1914,
Parliament passed the WMA as a tool to allow wartime governments to make new
laws without having to obtain the approval of Parliament. Under the WMA, when the
Governor in Council (i.e., the federal Cabinet) decided that emergency measures
were needed, it could proclaim an emergency. When this was done, Cabinet could
enact laws without going through the ordinary process in the House of Commons and

the Senate. The power given to Cabinet was subject to little or no oversight.

The WMA was used during both World Wars, as well as during the October Crisis of
1970. Some measures enacted under the WMA included the internment of Canadians
of Japanese descent and the warrantless arrest of suspected members of the Front
de libération du Québec. Unsurprisingly, these types of measures attracted significant

criticism.
3.3 From the War Measures Act to the Emergencies Act

In 1987, the Federal Government introduced legislation to repeal the WMA and
to replace it with a new framework for managing national emergencies. When the
proposed Emergencies Act was introduced to Parliament, the defence minister
claimed that its purpose was to prevent abuses of civil liberties. However, the reforms
contained in the Act were much broader than this. The Emergencies Act was not
simply an attempt to build in additional safeguards to prevent repeating earlier abuses
that had occurred under the WMA. It was an attempt to enact an entirely different
framework for the management of national emergencies, one that reflected a range

of concerns.
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The Emergencies Act has four main parts. First, it establishes the types of situations in
which the federal Cabinet can declare an emergency. Second, it outlines the process
for how proclamations of emergency begin and end. Third, it sets out the types of
powers that the federal Cabinet can exercise while an emergency proclamation is in
effect. Finally, it establishes a series of oversight and review mechanisms related to

Cabinet’s use of its emergency powers.

The Emergencies Act allows the Federal Government to respond to four distinct
types of emergencies: (1) public welfare emergencies, such as natural disasters and
pandemics; (2) public order emergencies, which arise out of threats to the security
of Canada; (3) international emergencies, such as acts of intimidation or coercion by
foreign states; and (4) war emergencies. This Inquiry is concerned with public order

emergencies.

Each of these four types of emergencies has a distinct definition, but they all share
a common element: the existence of a “national emergency.” A national emergency
is an urgent and critical situation of a temporary nature that cannot effectively be
dealt with under any other law of Canada and that: (1) seriously endangers the lives,
health, or safety of Canadians and exceeds the capacity or authority of a province to
deal with it; or (2) seriously threatens the government’s ability to preserve Canada’s

sovereignty, security, and territorial integrity.

For a situation to constitute a public order emergency, it must arise from “threats to the
security of Canada” that are “so serious as to be a national emergency.” A threat to the
security of Canada, in turn, is defined by the Canadian Security Intelligence Service
Act (CSIS Act) to mean one of four things: espionage or sabotage against Canada;
foreign influenced, clandestine activities; activities involving the threat or use of acts
of serious violence for the purpose of achieving a political, religious, or ideological

objective; and activities directed at the overthrow of Canada’s system of government.

-20 -



Volume 1 — Executive Summary

The Emergencies Act can be invoked when the Government reasonably believes that
the conditions for one of the four types of emergencies have been met. However,
because of concerns surrounding federalism, the Federal Government usually needs
to consult affected provinces before making such a proclamation. The obligation to
consult does not require Cabinet to obtain the agreement of the provinces, except
where an emergency exists only within a single province. The Emergencies Act
does not require consultation with other forms of government, such as Indigenous

governments, the territories, or municipalities.

Once an emergency is proclaimed, the federal Cabinet is empowered to make various
types of orders and regulations that have the force of law. The powers granted to
Cabinet vary with each type of emergency. There are also limits on Cabinet’s power
to make orders and regulations: They must be consistent with the Charter of Rights
and Freedoms and the Canadian Bill of Rights; they cannot amend the Emergencies
Act itself; and they cannot provide for the detention, imprisonment, or internment of
Canadian citizens or permanent residents based on race, national or ethnic origin,

colour, religion, sex, age, or mental or physical disability.

The Emergencies Act provides legislative and judicial oversight of the Government.
The House of Commons and Senate must each vote to confirm a declaration of an
emergency within a fixed time, or else the emergency ends. All emergencies also
automatically expire after a fixed amount of time unless they are extended by Cabinet,
which requires approval by Parliament as well. Either the House of Commons or the

Senate may also vote to terminate a state of emergency at any time.

Parliament also reviews the exercise of emergency powers by Cabinet. The Senate
or the House of Commons can consider a motion to revoke or amend an order or
regulation made under the Act. If both houses of Parliament agree to such a motion,
the order is amended or revoked accordingly. Parliament provides additional scrutiny
through a joint House of Commons — Senate committee that reviews Cabinet’s

performance of its functions under a declaration of emergency.
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Both a proclamation of emergency and the exercise of emergency powers under
the Act are subject to judicial review on constitutional as well as administrative
law grounds. Indeed, when the Federal Government proclaimed the Public Order
Emergency of February 2022, numerous applications for judicial review were filed in
the Federal Court, challenging the proclamation itself, as well as the measures taken
by the Government. Those proceedings remain outstanding as of the time that this

Report was drafted.

Finally, as | have already mentioned, once an emergency ends, the Government must

cause an inquiry to be held.

4. The right to protest, and its limits

The ability to protest is a cherished right. It empowers individuals to shape the rules
by which we choose to govern ourselves, thereby enriching social and political
life. Demonstrations sometimes result in public disturbances. Indeed, protests’
effectiveness as a form of expression can be because they are confrontational and
disruptive. But like all constitutional rights, freedom of expression can be restricted
in certain circumstances. This last point often seems to be forgotten in discussions
about fundamental freedoms. During the hearings, | heard testimony from several
protesters who said that their activities were lawful because they were engaged in
protests, and thus were exercising their rights under the Charter. This view, while
understandable, is inaccurate. The Charter provides a robust protection for protest

activities. But like all rights in Canada, protest rights are subject to reasonable limits.

4.1 Constitutional protections for the right to protest

The right to protest is protected under the Charter of Rights and Freedoms primarily
by three provisions: freedom of expression under section 2(b); freedom of peaceful

assembly under section 2(c); and freedom of association under section 2(d).
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Expression is inherent in the very idea of protest, since protests are, by definition,
attempts to express grievance, disagreement, or resistance. The guarantee of
freedom of expression in section 2(b) protects a person’s right to communicate a
message, as long as the method and location of that expression is compatible with
the values of truth, democracy, and self-realization. While violence and threats of
violence are not protected, freedom of expression is otherwise broad. Expression can
take an infinite variety of forms, including the written and spoken word, the arts, and
physical gestures. There is protection for expression regardless of the meaning or

message sought to be conveyed.

Freedom of peaceful assembly, as the collective performance of individual expressive
activity, incorporates and advances many of the same values as freedom of expression.
A public assembly or gathering can send a message of protest or dissent, forcing the
community to pay attention to grievances and become involved in redressing them.
Public gatherings can enable disadvantaged and disempowered communities to forge

a collective entity and leverage their voice.

Only “peaceful” assemblies are protected by section 2(c) of the Charter. As a matter
of definition, “peaceful” might simply mean “without violence,” but it could also
entail something closer to “quiet” or “calm.” A violent assembly would clearly not fall
within section 2(c). The more difficult question is whether an assembly should lose
constitutional protection if it is disruptive or unlawful, but not violent. In my view, it can
be reasonable to protect assemblies that produce an element of disruption. Many
public protests are disruptive, and that disruption may be central to their efficacy.
This is especially true for groups and communities who are otherwise politically
marginalized. This is not to say that all non-violent assemblies are constitutionally
guaranteed regardless of how disruptive they may be. In some cases, the line
between disruption and “non-peaceful” may be blurry. For example, what about
assemblies characterized by seriously harmful, yet non-violent conduct? Would such

an assembly still be “peaceful”? These are difficult questions to answer in the abstract.
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The important point is that an assembly is not excluded from the scope of section 2(c)

simply because it is disruptive.

Section 2(d) of the Charter guarantees freedom of association. This guarantee
is grounded in empowerment for those who join with others to elevate their voice
and exercise power. Like freedom of peaceful assembly, freedom of association is a
collective right, which protects three categories of activities: (1) the right to join with
others and form associations; (2) the right to join with others in the pursuit of other
constitutional rights; and (3) the right to join with others to meet on more equal terms
the power and strength of other groups or entities. Violent associational activity is not

protected by section 2(d).

4.2 Limits of fundamental freedoms

In essence, most forms of protest activity benefit from Charter protection. However,
all rights protected by the Charter are subject to such reasonable limits as can be
demonstrably justified in a free and democratic society. In other words, no rights are
absolute. In appropriate cases, a government may enact laws or take action that limits
a Charter right in order to further another important goal. Determining whether any
given limit on a Charter right constitutes a “reasonable limit” is done by courts under a

framework known as the “Oakes test.”

The Oakes test has four main components. The first step is to determine whether a
government’s reason for restricting the right is substantial and pressing enough to
justify limiting a fundamental right or freedom. Steps two and three assess the ways a
government chooses to advance its purpose: Does the restriction rationally advance
the law’s purpose, and if so, does the law restrict the right no more than is necessary
to achieve that objective? The final part of the Oakes test considers whether the

benefit of the restrictive measure is proportionate to its impairment of the freedom.

There are many ways in which governments have sought to restrict the right to

protest. Examples include confining protests to designated protest spaces or “free
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speech zones,” requiring protest organizers to give notice to the police or obtain
their approval, and creating bubble or buffer zones around certain locations such as
abortion clinics. Despite the differences in methods, in each of these examples, courts
upheld the government actions as a reasonable limit on free expression in particular
cases. That does not mean that restrictions like this will always be justified. Context
is important when assessing whether limits on any Charter-protected right can be
demonstrably justified. In different circumstances, the same government conduct
could have been found to be an unreasonable — and therefore unconstitutional —
limit on free expression. Restrictions on free expression must always be assessed in

light of the facts that apply to each individual case.

5. Policing public protests

Occasionally, witnesses at the hearings saw the absence of arrests or coercive police
action as an indication that protesters were acting lawfully. This is not necessarily so.
Protests are managed through a complex web of written and unwritten laws. When
police respond to protests, they have wide discretion in terms of how to use the various
powers that are at their disposal. In some cases, protesters work collaboratively with
the police to manage parade routes and protest sites. Police may even be involved in
planning aspects of public events with protest organizers. Other times, police respond
reactively. During protests themselves, police can play a variety of roles, including
traffic manager, negotiator, and public relations professional, as well as security guard
for protesters, their targets, and members of the public alike. Police may also act to

restrict protests, or even shut them down.

Even when police use powers granted to them by the criminal law, they retain wide
discretion in how to act. Seriously disruptive protests in Canada seldom end with
mass arrests. This is largely because police have significant decision-making authority
on whether to use these powers, including whether or not to lay charges when they

observe criminal conduct.
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Even when arrests or tactical operations are legally justified, police will frequently
choose to employ different strategies, including the use of police liaison teams
(PLTs) to negotiate with protesters. There are several reasons why police may
choose negotiation over enforcement. By engaging with protesters, liaison teams
attempt to maintain open lines of communication and develop a relationship of trust.
When police understand protesters’ goals, they may be able to facilitate a safe and
lawful environment where protesters can exercise their freedom of expression and
assembly. Through education, police may reduce or eliminate unlawful conduct. In
some instances, they may facilitate an end to the protest or reduce the size of its
footprint. Police may also choose not to lay charges or arrest protesters because it is

unsafe to do so.

The choices police make to manage a protest may differ from those that elected
officials would prefer. While governments decide important questions about policing,
their control over police is not absolute. If a government has too much control over
the police, there is a risk that the law will not be applied impartially. If a government
has too little control over the police, there is a risk that the police will become self-
governing. As a result, police need to be accountable to democratic institutions, while
still making many decisions independent of government. This latitude is often referred
to as “operational independence.” The contours of operational independence remain
a source of debate. At this juncture, | find it sufficient to note that core law enforcement
decisions such as whether to investigate, charge, or arrest someone belong to the

police.

The discretion that police have in managing public order disturbances trickles down
from Senior Command to individual officers. The Commission heard evidence about
a range of policing models employed by different police forces. In general, Senior
Command provides direction regarding an operation, including about its purpose,
limitations, conditions, and expected conclusion. Incident commanders make
decisions about how those objectives should be achieved. At the front-line level, each

officer also exercises a degree of discretion in performing their duties.
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Police are not the only actors with legal powers to prevent, manage, or end public
protests. Both provincial and federal governments can call on the military to assist with
disturbances that are beyond the police’s capacity to deal with alone. It is important to
be very clear that using soldiers for civilian law enforcement is an extreme measure
that should never be taken lightly. Soldiers are not generally trained to police; they are
trained to kill. The use of such a force to police domestic disturbances would always

be a grave matter.

Governments and private individuals may request the assistance of the courts to
manage protest activities by seeking injunctions. An injunction is a court order that
requires a person or a group to either do, or refrain from doing, things set out in the
order. When protesters do not obey the terms of an injunction, police can arrest them

for criminal contempt of court.

It is therefore too simplistic to say that protests are managed by police who arrest
individuals who break the law. Large-scale public order disturbances, including large
protests, are dynamic, complex events, which may be dealt with through a variety of

means, by a variety of entities.

6. The origins of the Freedom Convoy movement

Understanding the origins of the Freedom Convoy movement is difficult. On the
surface, the causes of the protests were public health measures made in early 2022
that negatively impacted unvaccinated truckers. However, the roots of the protests
run much deeper. The protests against public health measures that emerged during
the COVID-19 pandemic did not come out in a vacuum. Underlying protesters’
specific concerns about COVID-19 rules were broader grievances about the Federal
Government and the state of Canadian society. Understanding the Freedom Convoy

phenomenon requires an appreciation for this dynamic.
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6.1 The rise of Canadian populism

The 2010s saw the emergence of a new wave of populist sentiment in many parts
of the world, including Canada. These sentiments are characterized by the view that
political and social elites govern solely for their own self-benefit, at the expense of
ordinary citizens. There is no one reason why populist frameworks have become
more prevalent in Canada over the last decade. It seems clear that there are at least
three broad trends that help to describe the emergence of this sentiment: economic

marginalization, social anxiety, and distrust in political institutions.

Economic marginalization has contributed to growing populist sentiment around the
world. Many believe that the 2008 economic crisis was the product of a financial system
that was rigged in favour of a small economic elite. When that system collapsed under
its own weight, political elites bailed out the rich, but left ordinary people to lose their
jobs, pensions, and homes. In Canada, events in 2015 added to these economic
grievances, particularly in the West. Dropping oil prices presented a stark economic
challenge to oil and gas workers at the same time as new environmental policies from
the Federal Government, which were viewed as hostile to resource industries, came
into effect. Many viewed the Federal Government as actively contributing to Western

Canada’s economic troubles.

Social anxieties frequently accompany these kinds of economic anxieties. While
Canada has grown more globally minded and inclusive over the last decade, polling
data shows that a significant segment of the population is skeptical of these trends.
A substantial minority of Canadians hold increasingly inflexible views of who is “us”
and who is “them,” and deepening concerns that “they” represent a challenge to core

social values and identity.

The 2010s also saw a dramatic erosion in some people’s confidence in public
institutions. Perhaps most troubling is the decreasing confidence in electoral politics.

Where people question the very legitimacy of the existing political system, there is
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real reason to channel their grievances through means outside of traditional electoral

politics.

All of these dynamics, which help to define populist tendencies, could be observed
during the Freedom Convoy. COVID-19 measures, for example, were seen by some
as rules, imposed by a political elite, that inflicted terrible economic harms on working
people. The lack of confidence in public institutions, such as public health authorities,
led many to question the value of these measures. Political discourse was increasingly
hostile. The politicians and public health officials who imposed these rules were not to
be merely criticized. For some vocal opponents, they were enemies to be imprisoned

or worse.

The emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic did not create these trends, but it did

provide a situation where they could manifest more clearly.

6.2 Social media, social movements, and the problems of mis-
and disinformation

One thing that became clear from the evidence | heard during the Inquiry was the
critical role social media played in shaping the Freedom Convoy. Social media
platforms were the tools by which organizers met, coordinated, and connected with
participants. But these platforms do not only permit social movements to organize
at a previously unachievable rate and scale. Social media also allows hate speech,
propaganda, conspiracy theories, and lies to spread farther, faster, and cheaper than
ever before. This too was an important dynamic both before and during the Freedom
Convoy protests. False beliefs that COVID-19 vaccines manipulate DNA, social media
feeds rife with homophobic or racist content, and inaccurate reporting of important

events all featured in the evidence before me.

Evidence from many of the convoy organizers and participants demonstrated a range
of views that | have no difficulty characterizing as being based on misinformation.

Some views were outright conspiratorial. James Bauder, a protest organizer, testified
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that mRNA vaccines alter people’s genes and that an international declaration on
ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects authorizes the Senate
of Canada to override domestic law in certain circumstances. Patrick King, another
protest organizer, testified to his apparent belief that the Government of Canada had

“implement[ed]” the presence of Chinese soldiers in Canada.

The role that mis- and disinformation played in the protests is complicated. In an
expert report prepared for the Commission, Professor Ahmed Al-Rawi conducted
an extensive review of social media posts made during the protests. His analysis
showed a wide degree of variability in how different social media platforms were
used. Facebook and Instagram were largely pro-convoy platforms, while Twitter was
home to many opponents of the protests. Misinformation was limited on “mainstream”
platforms but was prevalent in alternative platforms like Telegram. There was no single

role that social media played in the protests.

Evidence from the Government of Canada indicated that there was no basis to believe
that the Freedom Convoy was the product of a foreign disinformation campaign. This is
an important fact, but one that risks oversimplifying the role that misinformation played.
During the COVID-19 pandemic, foreign state actors had significant success spreading
false information about COVID-19, public health measures, and vaccines, done as a
means to sow mistrust in democratic governments. As Associate Deputy Minister of
Foreign Affairs Cynthia Termorshuizen suggested, “there really wasn’t much of a need
for foreign state actors to engage significantly in the convoy information environment

”]

because there was already such a high level of disinformation surrounding it.

6.3 Predecessor convoys: 2018 - 2019

Trucker convoy protests were not new to 2022. In the years leading up to the Freedom
Convoy, many populist movements used similar tactics, such as “slow rolls” of trucks

to disrupt traffic. For example, on December 16, 2018, a convoy of some 600 trucks

" Evidence of Cynthia Termorshuizen, Transcript, November 14, 2022, pp. 284 — 287.
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drove through Grande Prairie, Alberta to raise awareness for the difficulties truckers
in Alberta’s energy industry were facing. On December 19, 2018, the group “Truckers
for Pipelines” organized a 22-km-long convoy of trucks to Nisku, Alberta to protest the

lack of progress in pipeline development.

In December 2018, a group of individuals in Alberta created a Facebook group called
“Yellow Vests Canada” and started planning the “Yellow Vest (Official) Convoy to
Ottawa.” They intended to protest, among other things, the Federal Government’s
carbon pricing legislation and proposed changes to environmental laws. “Yellow Vests”
was a reference to the Yellow Vests protests that had begun in France in November
2018. While the French movement also had its origins in economic grievances, some
of its organizers employed anti-immigrant, antisemitic, and Islamophobic rhetoric.
Some of the organizers of “Yellow Vest (Official) Convoy to Ottawa” were reportedly
concerned about how the French Yellow Vest movement had come to be perceived.
A related concern emerged when death threats against the Prime Minister of Canada
began to appear on some Yellow Vest Canada websites. The Canadian Yellow Vest
organizers eventually rebranded their movement to the “United We Roll” convoy for

Canada.

On February 14, 2019, the United We Roll convoy left Red Deer, Alberta. Arriving
in Ottawa on February 19, protesters demonstrated at Parliament Hill for two days.
Several people who would play prominent roles in the 2022 Ottawa protests were
involved in the United We Roll convoy. Tamara Lich, who would go on to play a high-
profile role in the events of January and February 2022, was one of the organizers of
the Yellow Vest rallies in Medicine Hat, Alberta. Mr. King testified that he was one of
two individuals in the pilot truck that led the United We Roll convoy, in which Mr. Bauder

also participated.
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6.4 Protestsin 2020 and 2021: COVID-19 and politics

The United We Roll convoy took place less than a year before the emergence of
COVID-19. By the end of March 2020, every province and territory in Canada had
declared some form of emergency and imposed a range of public health measures.
The timing and details of these measures varied, but a number of commonalities
emerged. Examples of these include travel limits, prohibitions on large gatherings, the
closure of businesses and schools, and the requirement to wear masks. Some orders
imposed significant restrictions on liberty, such as the curfew and stay-at-home orders

adopted in Quebec and Ontario, respectively.

Starting in December 2020, Health Canada began to issue regulatory approvals for
COVID-19 vaccines. With this came new public health measures that were based on
an individual’s vaccination status. It became increasingly common for individuals to
have to prove that they were vaccinated in order to travel, engage in recreation, and

even work.

The public’s response to public health measures were varied. Many thought that
governments were taking inadequate action to protect the people of Canada. Many
others believed that governments had gone too far and were restricting liberties
without justification. | do not intend to wade into the debates about the appropriateness
of various governments’ approaches to the pandemic. However, | do wish to make
three observations. First, whatever their merit, these public health measures
imposed genuine hardship on Canadians. Second, some of the rules implemented
by governments caused understandable confusion and even anger among the public.
This is not to say that the rules themselves represented bad policy, only that some
measure of negative public reaction was understandable. Third, at a time when the
pandemic forced many people to live their lives online, it is not surprising that social
media was actively used as a means for individuals to express their displeasure with

government actions.
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Protests against COVID-19 public health measures began almost immediately after
measures were imposed. Throughout the summer of 2020, protests grew in size,
number, and level of coordination. The targets of protests were, at times, concerning.
Most protests focused on traditional targets such as legislatures, government offices,
and public spaces. As the pandemic went on, however, protesters began targeting

less traditional locations such as hospitals, vaccination clinics, and schools.

A federal election was called on August 15, 2021. As with most elections, there were
protests associated with campaign events. However, many of the protests were
framed as being in opposition to COVID-19 vaccine mandates. Like many of the public
health protests that took place prior to the election, those that characterized the 2021

election were unusually aggressive and troubling in their tone.

On August 27, 2021, campaign events in Mississauga, Nobleton, and Bolton, Ontario
had been planned for Prime Minister Justin Trudeau. In Nobleton, approximately 200
anti-vaccine protesters gathered outside the venue, holding flags and banners, using
bullhorns, and pushing and yelling. They circled the prime minister’s bus upon its
arrival and then moved toward the windows of the venue and yelled through the glass.
The prime minister’s campaign cancelled the event in Bolton because of security
concerns regarding approximately 400 anti-vaccine protesters who had gathered

outside the event venue.

On August 29, protesters at a campaign event in Cambridge, Ontario attempted to
drown out the Prime Minister’s speech by heckling him loudly. Some held signs with
the words “no microchip,” referring to the conspiracy theory that COVID-19 vaccines
were injecting tracking devices into people. On September 6, 2021, a protester
reportedly threw gravel at Prime Minister Trudeau during a campaign stop in London,
Ontario. The RCMP reported a “marked escalation” in aggressive protester conduct

and indicated that some individuals were advocating for violence.
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Looking back at 2021, one can see a range of factors that contributed to the protests
that took place. Individuals protested for a variety of reasons, ranging from the genuine
fatigue and hardship caused by almost two years of COVID-19 measures to polarized
and hostile partisan views. At the fringes were more radical actors, including both
ethno-nationalist extremists and conspiracy groups. Most protests were peaceful, but
social media amplified calls for violence. The growing number of people and locations

that were being targeted by protests represented a troubling escalation.

6.5 James Bauder and Operation Bearhug

| have already noted that the 2022 Freedom Convoy was foreshadowed by the 2019
United We Roll convoy to Ottawa. In 2021, a second foreshadowing event took place:

Operation Bearhug.

Just as United We Roll found its inspiration in the French Yellow Vest movement,
Operation Bearhug was also inspired by events abroad. On August 30, 2021, truck
drivers in Australia began blockading parts of the Gold Coast Highway as a protest
in response to mandatory vaccine requirements and lockdowns. On the same day,
Mr. Bauder — a Canadian who, as | noted earlier in this chapter, participated in United
We Roll and would go on to help organize the Freedom Convoy — made a post on his
Facebook page, referencing the Australian protests and calling out to all truckers in
Canada to participate in a “CANADA UNITY Convoy” from Calgary, Alberta to Ottawa,
subsequently dubbed “Operation Bearhug.”

On September 16, 2021, Mr. Bauder posted a message on the Facebook page for
a group called Canada Unity. He advised that the Canada Unity Convoy would “not
leav[e] Ottawa until the LAW is upheld by our elected Canadian government.” On
September 28, he posted a copy of a “Memorandum of Understanding” (MOU) drafted
by Canada Unity.? The parties to the MOU were the “People of Canada,” the Senate

of Canada, and the Governor General. The MOU required the Senate and Governor

2 Memorandum of Understanding, COM00000866.
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General to instruct all levels of government to reinstate all employees dismissed due
to vaccine mandates, issue a “cease-and-desist order” abolishing all vaccine passport
rules, and create a “Citizens of Canada Committee.” In exchange, Canada Unity

would “immediately stop Operation Bear Hug.”

By December 6, 2021, the Canada Unity Convoy had arrived in Ottawa. According
to the Ottawa Police Service (OPS), 10 — 15 vehicles participated. Mr. Bauder
claimed that the convoy grew to 500 vehicles. Protesters demonstrated in Ottawa
until December 10. After these events, Mr. Bauder went on Facebook to say that the
protest would have been more successful with a bigger crowd and suggested that

there could be a “BearHug 2.0".

6.6 Border measures and fruckers

From early in the pandemic until August 2021, there was a general prohibition
preventing foreign nationals from entering Canada from the United States for
purposes such as tourism. For those who were allowed to enter, most needed to show
proof of a negative COVID-19 test or to quarantine. Cross-border truckers, however,
were exempted from pre-arrival testing and quarantine. In August and September
2021, Canada’s rules were loosened to permit foreign nationals to enter Canada for

discretionary purposes, provided that they were fully vaccinated.

For commercial truck drivers, this change did not have any immediate impact. They
continued to be permitted to enter Canada without having to be vaccinated. This
began to change in October when first the United States, and then Canada announced
new rules that would require truckers to be fully vaccinated to cross the border.
Unvaccinated Canadian truckers could still enter, but would now have to quarantine.

These changes were the spark that ignited the Freedom Convoy movement.
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/. Organizing the Freedom Convoy to Ottawa

The evidence that | heard about the initial days of the Freedom Convoy painted a
picture of a group of early leaders that were united in their intent to protest public
health measures and, more broadly, the Government’s actions in restricting freedom.

They were, however, somewhat fractured over their expectations for the movement.

Chris Barber is a commercial truck driver based out of Swift Current, Saskatchewan,
with a considerable social media following. He is a self-described “internet troll” and
an “online troublemaker.” During the pandemic, Mr. Barber became increasingly

frustrated with provincial and federal public health rules.

Brigitte Belton is an independent trucker based in Southwestern Ontario. Ms. Belton
testified that she faced a range of difficulties during the COVID-19 pandemic. These
culminated in a negative interaction with a Canada Border Services Agency (CBSA)
officer on November 16, 2021, while crossing the Ambassador Bridge in Windsor,
where she was asked to pull over into the CBSA compound because she did not have
a mask on. After her interaction with the CBSA, Ms. Belton posted a video on TikTok
to share her experience, which garnered significant attention. Ms. Belton’s frustration
with public health restrictions reached a boiling point when the Federal Government

introduced the vaccine mandate for cross-border truckers.

Patrick King lives in Red Deer, Alberta, and has held various positions in the oil and
gas industry. He too was active on social media. Between his various online platforms,
Mr. King estimates that he had about 500,000 followers. It became apparent during
his testimony that Mr. King has made numerous statements on social media that could
reasonably be viewed as racist and violent. During the COVID-19 pandemic, Mr. King

had been outspoken about public health restrictions.

James Bauder is a commercial truck driver living in Calgary, Alberta. Like Mr. King,
he has a background in the oil and gas industry. Public health measures have had a

direct impact on Mr. Bauder’s employment. He testified that he quit his job because
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he could not access clients’ facilities without proof of vaccination. He testified that all
COVID-19 public health measures are unlawful, that mRNA COVID-19 vaccines are a

form of gene-altering therapy, and that God told him to organize the convoy.

Tamara Lich lives in Medicine Hat, Alberta, and has worked primarily in oil and gas
logistics and administration. She has held leadership positions as a board member
of Wexit Alberta and Wexit Canada — political parties intended to promote Western
Canadian interests or to seek independence. Ms. Lich testified that she and most of
her colleagues were laid off in early January 2022, when their workplace closed amid
the COVID-19 Omicron variant and an economic downturn. Her parents owned a pilot

truck business that was impacted by the cross-border vaccine mandate.

Collaboration between the organizers appears to have begun in early January 2022,
when Ms. Belton contacted Mr. Barber using TikTok. The pair had no prior relationship.
In their discussions, they initially envisioned a slow roll campaign and made a flyer
calling for slow rolls that would begin on January 23 and continue until public health
restrictions were lifted. Within days, Ms. Belton learned of Mr. Bauder, who was also
in the process of planning a protest convoy to Ottawa. Mr. Bauder, in turn, introduced
Ms. Belton to Mr. King.

On January 13, 2022, Mr. King hosted a Facebook Live event. Mr. Barber, Ms. Belton,
and Mr. Bauder were present online, along with approximately 3,000 other supporters.
During the event, the group began discussing a convoy to Ottawa. That day, Ms. Lich
reached out to Mr. Barber and offered to help by drawing on her background in
logistics and administration. The following day, Ms. Lich created a Facebook page

and a GoFundMe campaign for the Freedom Convoy and started raising funds.

On January 22, two contingents of Freedom Convoy participants departed for
Ottawa from Prince Rupert and Vancouver, British Columbia, respectively. Additional

contingents of the Freedom Convoy would depart from Nova Scotia and Southwestern
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Ontario on January 27. Participants maintained contact with one another through

radios, apps, and social media.

The Freedom Convoy was born of a collective effort by individuals who were
dissatisfied with what they perceived as government overreach, particularly regarding
responses to the COVID-19 pandemic. While public health measures had impacted
each of them differently, their common frustration brought the organizers together
and attracted supporters. However, while united in their overall motivation, their
perspectives differed at times on what exactly the convoy should accomplish, and
what tactics it should employ. Some organizers had ambitious visions of what success
would mean, while others had more modest hopes. Mr. Barber testified that he simply
wanted his voice heard. Mr. Bauder, on the other hand, publicized Canada Unity’s

MOU, which appeared to have more radical ambitions.

Given the differences in the organizers’ goals, it is not surprising that the way they
envisioned reaching those goals varied as well. For instance, the organizers do not
appear to have agreed on the duration of their stay in Ottawa. Ms. Belton testified
that she expected to stay one or two days. Mr. King, on the other hand, had stated
during the January 13 Facebook Live event that protesters would not leave until their

demands were addressed or the Government was “fired.”

Organizers also did not speak with one voice, though they were sufficiently aligned
so as not to denounce each other. There were occasions where some organizers
were willing to overlook aspects of the others that they found problematic because
they believed that co-operation would more effectively further their own goals. For
example, Ms. Lich and Mr. Barber became concerned with Mr. King’s involvement
in the Freedom Convoy because of previous controversial statements that Mr. King
had made that seemed to condone the use of violence against politicians. While |
heard evidence that Ms. Lich confronted Mr. King about this prior to the arrival of the

convoy in Ottawa, Mr. King continued with the group and participated in the protests.

-38 -



Volume 1 — Executive Summary

Mr. Barber and Ms. Lich were not prepared to disavow Mr. King outright because of

his large social media following and the support that he brought with him.

The organizers appear to have been more united in their intention that the protest
be peaceful, or at least that it not become physically violent. Maintaining a peaceful
protest was important to many of the organizers, who believed that violence or threats

of violence would discredit the movement and drain it of popular support.

The five organizers | have mentioned in the preceding paragraphs were not the
only ones who played key roles in the protests. They were not even the only ones
who organized convoys to Ottawa. | heard evidence of a broad array of groups,
organizations, and movements who participated in the Ottawa protests in some way.
For example, | heard evidence from Steeve Charland, a writer, speaker, and blogger
from Grenville-sur-la-Rouge, Quebec, who was an organizer of a largely independent
contingent of protesters from Quebec. He is a former board member of La Meute, an
advocacy group that is often associated with the far right, and is now involved with the
group Les Farfadaas. Mr. Charland described Les Farfadaas as a protest movement

that fights for justice and takes care of those whom society has forgotten.

Mr. Charland testified that, when he first heard about the Freedom Convoy, he had little
interest in the cross-border vaccine mandate. Instead, when describing his motivation
for joining the protest, Mr. Charland pointed to government overreach in the form
of curfews and restrictions on hosting guests at home, among other initiatives. The
curfew measure was unique to Quebec. The Federal Government had no role in its

implementation.

The importance of noting Mr. Charland is to emphasize that the Freedom Convoy was
never a monolithic movement. From its very beginnings, it was a collection of different

groups and people, many of whom had their own unique concerns and goals.
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8. The City of Ottawa

Parliament Hill is in the downtown core of the City of Ottawa, on the banks of the
Ottawa River. Immediately south of Parliament Hill is Wellington Street, which is home
to several important institutions including the Office of the Prime Minister and Privy
Council building. Two blocks east of Parliament Hill is the intersection of Rideau Street
and Sussex Drive. The Rideau Centre, Ottawa’s largest shopping mall, is located
there. Between Wellington Street and the Rideau — Sussex intersection is Elgin Street,
which runs north — south. On the east side of Elgin Street, about four blocks south of

Wellington Street, is Confederation Park.

As the national capital, Ottawa is a particularly complicated city from a legal and
jurisdictional perspective. Multiple levels of government operate side by side within
a relatively small, dense urban space, and multiple law enforcement agencies have
jurisdiction and policing responsibilities. The OPS is the police of jurisdiction in the city
of Ottawa. As such, it is responsible for providing policing services throughout Ottawa,
including on Wellington Street, on Parliament Hill, and within the Parliamentary

Precinct.

The OPS is an independent law enforcement agency that has a relationship with both
the City of Ottawa and the Ottawa Police Services Board (OPSB). Under Ontario’s
Police Services Act (PSA), municipalities have the duty to provide adequate and
effective police services. Where a municipality establishes its own police force, the
PSA requires the creation of a municipal police services board, which is independent
from the municipality, though it shares some members. The Chair of the OPSB, up to

February 16, 2022, was City Councillor Diane Deans.

Various other agencies also provide policing and security in Ottawa. The Ontario
Provincial Police (OPP) is responsible for policing provincial highways that run through
the city. The RCMP is responsible for protecting senior federal government officials

and diplomats, investigating national security-related offences, and conducting
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traffic enforcement on parkways owned by the National Capital Commission (NCC).
The Parliamentary Protective Service (PPS) is responsible for physical security on
Parliament Hill and in the Parliamentary Precinct. NCC conservation officers conduct
parking and property offence enforcement on NCC properties. In the Quebec portion
of the National Capital Region, the Service de police de la Ville de Gatineau (SPVG)
provides policing in Gatineau, and the Sdreté du Québec (SQ) is responsible for

highway patrol and assisting the SPVG.

9. Early inteligence and police preparation for the
arrival of the convoy

As the Freedom Convoy approached Ottawa, few within the OPS expected that
demonstrators would remain for a protracted period. However, there was information
available to the OPS that, properly assessed, would have told a different story. Much
of the disarray in Ottawa was a result of the OPS’s incorrect belief regarding how long
the protests would last. To appreciate why the OPS had it wrong, it is first necessary
to understand the structure of the OPS, and how it went about assessing intelligence

prior to the arrival of the convoy.

9.1 The structure of the OPS and roles of key OPS players

The OPS is overseen by a chief of police, who is supported by two deputy chiefs
and a chief administrative officer. Together, they constitute the command team. The
following table summarizes the roles of key OPS members as of January 2022, before

the protesters’ arrival in Ottawa:

Deputy Chief Steve Bell » oversaw the Intelligence, Information, and
Investigations Command

» was appointed as Interim Chief of Police upon
Chief Sloly’s resignation on February 15, 2022
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Acting Deputy Chief » oversaw the Community Policing Command
Patricia Ferguson » had executive oversight for planning and
operations during the Freedom Convoy

Inspector Russell Lucas » oversaw the Operations Support Branch
(including the Special Events Unit) and served
as Incident Commander during the Freedom

Convoy
Superintendent Mark + oversaw the Intelligence Directorate whose
Patterson responsibilities included gathering intelligence

on protests

Chief Peter Sloly « was Chief of the OPS from October 28, 2019 to
February 15, 2022

At the time of the protests, most senior officers within or overseeing the Intelligence

Directorate were new to their roles.

In responding to major incidents like the Ottawa protests, the OPS uses the Incident
Command System (ICS). It comprises three levels of command: strategic, operational,
and tactical. Those levels are responsible for establishing an objective, determining
how to achieve the objective, and carrying out the tasks to accomplish the objective,
respectively. Strategic command for OPS planning and operations in response to the
Freedom Convoy was assigned to Acting Deputy Chief Patricia Ferguson. The OPS
used two levels of operational commanders: an event commander and an incident
commander. The respective role of each was not clearly documented. The tactical
level involved units that focused on implementing the operational command’s plan.
This included the Public Order Unit (POU), the Police Liaison Team (PLT) and the
Traffic Unit.
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9.2 Pre-arrival infelligence and planning

The OPS had access to multiple sources of intelligence before the Freedom Convoy
arrived in Ottawa. Taken together, this body of intelligence showed that there was
a strong possibility that the Ottawa protests would extend past the first weekend,

contrary to what the OPS command believed.

Project Hendon is a joint intelligence project led by the OPP’s Provincial Operations
Intelligence Bureau. It collects information, produces intelligence, and disseminates
intelligence regarding protest events that could present a public safety impact. Multiple
agencies from across Canada, including the OPS and the RCMP, received Project

Hendon reports regularly.

Project Hendon first reported on the Freedom Convoy on January 13, 2022. As
early as the next Hendon report, on January 20, 2022, there was mention that the
Freedom Convoy might attempt to disrupt the workings of government and that some
participants intended to stay in Ottawa until their demands were met. From their
earliest coverage of the Freedom Convoy in January, Hendon reports indicated that
protesters lacked an exit strategy after arriving in Ottawa, that hundreds of vehicles
from numerous convoys were participating, and that individuals with fringe ideologies

were joining the movement.

In addition to the Hendon reports, the OPS had access to other sources of information.
PPS assessments articulated the Freedom Convoy’s intent to stay, its unprecedented
support, its ability to cause disruption, and the potential for it to overwhelm the OPS.
A member of the OPP PLT told OPS Acting Deputy Chief Ferguson that she believed
that a core group of protesters would remain in Ottawa until all mandates were lifted.
The Ottawa Gatineau Hotel Association informed the OPS that it had received an
email on January 25 indicating that Freedom Convoy participants were planning
to book hotels for 30 — 90 days, although on January 29, hotels advised the OPS
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that groups had only booked stays for Friday and Saturday, and were leaving on the

Sunday.

The OPS Intelligence Directorate played a lead role in assessing the information that
the OPS was receiving throughout January. Sergeant Chris Kiez was in charge of
preparing an overall intelligence assessment for the OPS, and he completed the initial
version of this on January 25, 2022. The assessment stressed that this event would
be of an unprecedented scale, with “numbers of people beyond the norm,” and added
that the convoy would “be able to stop and effectively shut down movement if they

desire.” Other risks posed by the Freedom Convoy were not prominently featured.

OPS Inspector Russell Lucas began to act as incident commander on January 21.
He initially discounted the intelligence that the Freedom Convoy would remain in and
disrupt downtown Ottawa until its demands were met because it did not align with
his experience of anti-vaccine protests by local truckers in 2020 and 2021. Those
protesters had also said that they would stay in downtown Ottawa until their demands
were met, but they left within a day. Consequently, Inspector Lucas focused the OPS’s
planning and preparation on traffic management, which he identified as the principal

risk posed by the convoy.

Under the traffic plan, the OPS would first fill up Wellington Street with protester
vehicles on a “first-come basis,” and would then stack trucks on other streets in the
downtown core. Vehicles that could not fit downtown would be directed to the Sir John
A. Macdonald Parkway, the Sir George-Etienne Cartier Parkway, and a parking lot
located at 300 Coventry Road.

Inspector Lucas received this traffic plan on January 26. By this time, he had
developed heightened concerns about the Freedom Convoy because of additional
intelligence he had received. He perceived three principal risks: anti-government
elements joining the Freedom Convoy; the expressed intention of some participants

to remain in Ottawa beyond the weekend; and the growing public support for the
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Freedom Convoy. Inspector Lucas anticipated that the OPS could be overwhelmed by

the sheer number of participants.

While Inspector Lucas took steps such as obtaining additional POUs from the OPP and
neighbouring municipal forces, and putting both OPS and OPP PLTs into action, the
OPS’s operational plan still did not contain contingency plans to address a prolonged
protest. During an OPS Intelligence Directorate meeting on January 27, Inspector
Lucas stated that he was praying for “really cold weather” so that few participants
would remain. Without contingency plans, the operational plan counted on the best

and did not plan for the worst.

9.3 Oversight by the strategic command

As the convoy approached Ottawa, no member of the OPS executive had access
to a complete or accurate intelligence picture. While Chief Sloly began receiving
intelligence on January 13, Deputy Chief Bell and Acting Deputy Chief Ferguson only

began to receive intelligence briefings or updates around January 20.

The OPS lacked a system to ensure that intelligence reports were disseminated to
the entire executive and so, for example, Hendon reports did not begin reaching the
OPS’s deputy chiefs until January 27, one day before the convoy arrived. Similarly,
Chief Sloly and Acting Deputy Chief Ferguson apparently did not have regular access
to the OPS Intelligence Directorate’s daily briefings. Prior to January 27, there was
also no system of dedicated executive-level meetings to discuss intelligence, which

allowed this uneven dissemination to continue right up to the arrival of the convoy.

These shortcomings made it challenging for the executive to provide strategic
oversight of the operational plan. Acting Deputy Chief Ferguson neither identified nor
raised concerns about a disconnect between intelligence and the operational plan to
Chief Sloly, perhaps because she was privy to less intelligence than Deputy Chief Bell.
While Chief Sloly did identify concerns about the potential for protesters to remain in

Ottawa after the weekend, he ultimately agreed with the operational plan. | note that
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Chief Sloly was playing a higher-level strategic oversight role and that he relied on his

subordinates to ensure that the plan reflected the intelligence.

9.4 Preparation by OPS partners

The OPS was not the only police service that was preparing for the arrival of the
Freedom Convoy. On January 24, the OPP appointed Superintendent Craig Abrams
as strategic commander in charge of policing the Freedom Convoy for Ontario’s East
Region. The OPP also deployed a critical incident commander to the National Capital
Region Command Centre (NCRCC) to assist with coordinating the deployment of
police resources with the OPS and other police partners. | discuss the NCRCC in

more detail in the next section.

Similarly, the SQ and the SPVG prepared to manage Freedom Convoy vehicles
travelling from Quebec to Ontario. The SQ, aware of the convoy from Project Hendon
and its own intelligence services, developed traffic management plans for the convoys

heading from various places in Quebec to Ottawa.

On January 27, a meeting took place under the auspices of INTERSECT, a police-led,
information-sharing program in the National Capital Region (NCR). It was apparent
to OPP Superintendent Abrams and RCMP Deputy Commissioner Michael Duheme,
who both attended the call, that the OPS was planning for a weekend event at most.
The two did not question this plan. Indeed, some in the OPP appear to have shared

the OPS’s confidence in the plan and the assumptions on which it was based.

10. Oftawa’s preparation for the arrival of the convoy

10.1 Preparation by the City

The City of Ottawa’s response to the protests was led by Department of Emergency

and Protective Services General Manager Kim Ayotte. Mr. Ayotte reported to City
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Manager Steve Kanellakos, who was the highest ranking unelected official in Ottawa.

Mr. Kanellakos, in turn, reported to Ottawa Mayor Jim Watson and City Council.

When preparing for the Freedom Convoy protests, the City of Ottawa relied primarily
on information provided by law enforcement agencies, which indicated that the protest
would last the weekend and, while potentially disruptive, would be peaceful. However,
some information the City received raised the possibility of a longer and more serious

protest.

On January 26, OPS Chief Sloly briefed Mayor Watson, Mr. Kanellakos, and Mr. Ayotte
on what to expect in the coming days. Mayor Watson recalled that it was unclear during
that briefing how many vehicles were coming to Ottawa, what plan the protesters
had, and how long they intended to stay. During this meeting, Mr. Ayotte advised the
OPS that Ottawa By-law and Regulatory Services (BLRS) would not be enforcing or
ticketing protesters in any situations that were dangerous. The OPS agreed with this

approach.

It is unclear to what extent the City questioned or challenged the OPS’s operational
plan. Mr. Ayotte’s evidence is that the City raised concerns about letting trucks into
the downtown core but that they received “hard pushback” from the OPS. Conversely,
Mr. Kanellakos told the Commission that, while the City was not consulted on the
plan, he considered it a reasonable approach. The City deferred to the OPS plan and
did not use its authority under municipal by-laws to close roads to prevent the entry of

vehicles into the downtown core.

January 28 was the first day that convoy participants began to arrive in Ottawa. The
NCRCC, a police-led and emergency operations centre with representatives from the
RCMP, the OPP, the OPS, the PPS, and the City, was activated. The OPS assumed
the role of incident command for the protests. Other than maintaining situational

awareness, the City itself took few steps to prepare for the demonstrations. Most of
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the preparation was done by the police, with City actions being more supportive or

peripheral.

10.2 Information provided to the Ottawa Police Services Board

In the lead-up to the arrival of the Freedom Convoy, the OPSB was also being briefed
by the OPS. The information it received with respect to the anticipated size and
character of the protests was mixed. While the OPSB received some information that
suggested a large, longer-term protest, the main thrust of the information was that the

protests would be manageable and would only last for the weekend.

Chair Deans called a special public meeting of the OPSB on January 26. This was the
first and only meeting it held prior to the arrival of the convoy. During the meeting, Chief
Sloly briefed the Board. Chair Deans understood from that briefing that the OPS had
no reason to believe that the protest was going to become a prolonged occupation.
The OPS expected that the demonstration would last the weekend, with a small group
of protesters possibly remaining into the beginning of the next week. However, Acting
Deputy Chief Ferguson also advised that information obtained through contact with
protest organizers indicated that it would be a fluid event that could go on for an
extended period. The OPSB seemingly failed to raise this potential discrepancy at the

meeting, despite its obvious importance.

The OPSB did not receive detailed information on the OPS’s operational plan. Chair
Deans believed a plan was in place, but felt that Chief Sloly did not want to share
details at that time. The Board did not push for those details, and endorsed the
general approach of facilitating the right to protest while protecting against loss of life

and serious injury.
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11. The Otftawa protests

11.1 Arrival and the first weekend: January 28 — 30, 2022

The police and municipal officials were not the only groups preparing for the arrival of
the Freedom Convoy. Convoy supporters in Ottawa were also preparing a welcome.
One such effort was the Adopt-A-Trucker campaign, organized by Chris Garrah. In
addition to raising funds, which | discuss in later in Section 16.1, Adopt-A-Trucker
matched truckers with Ottawa residents willing to provide food, showers, laundry, and

accommodations.

Initially, Mr. Garrah was also involved with security and liaising with police, but passed
those roles on to Daniel Bulford, a former RCMP member. On January 27, Mr. Bulford
contacted the OPS, identified himself as the main point of contact regarding volunteer
security for the protesters, and invited them to raise any concerns with him. The OPS
provided Mr. Bulford with maps identifying where trucks could park in the downtown

core, which Mr. Bulford forwarded to convoy organizers.

The arrival of the Freedom Convoy protesters in Ottawa could fairly be described as
chaotic. The organizers’ plan was for the smaller convoys to converge on January 28
in the town of Arnprior, Ontario, and then travel to Ottawa as a united convoy the
following day. However, some vehicles arrived in Ottawa on January 28. Initially,
the OPS was able to facilitate the orderly arrival of protesters, directing vehicles to
Wellington Street. Protesters were co-operative and followed police directions. By the
afternoon of January 28, approximately 150 trucks had reached downtown, and an

additional 50 trucks were parked at the Coventry Road site.

The sheer number of vehicles that began to arrive caused serious challenges. By
the evening of January 28, Wellington Street was stacked with vehicles and the OPS
was aware that the situation would soon become even more difficult. More than 3,000

additional vehicles were expected to arrive by the afternoon of Saturday, January 29.
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During the night of January 28 — 29 there were warning signs that some protesters
were willing to engage in disruptive behaviour. Protesters on Wellington Street
warned the OPS that “all Hell’'s going to break loose” and that tractors would break
through roadblocks. Protesters on Queen Street reacted with hostility to police who
tried to move them. There were reports of by-law violations and aggressive conduct

by protesters. Small factions of protesters appeared determined to disrupt traffic flow.

Notwithstanding the large numbers of vehicles and protesters predicted to arrive,
OPS Chief Sloly was briefed at 10 a.m. on January 29 that the plan to manage traffic
was still working and that convoy participants were honouring agreements with the

PLT concerning where to park.

Within a few hours of this call, however, the OPS became overwhelmed. By noon,
OPS security officers, traffic officers, and the PLT had become exhausted trying to
manage the protests, and in order to conceal staffing shortages, the OPS began to
deploy Public Order Units (POUs) to conduct foot patrols. By mid-afternoon, the entry

points to downtown Ottawa were blocked and impassible.

The influx of Freedom Convoy vehicles and the disruptive behaviour by some protesters
threw the OPS operational command at the NCRCC into a state of dysfunction. OPS
Inspector Lucas described the atmosphere there as chaotic and explained that he
and his team had neither the capacity to process the incoming information nor the
resources to respond to the needs it was facing. Some dayshift officers were on duty
for more than 15 hours, and some officers were not getting relieved by replacement
shifts.

The OPS’s traffic plan collapsed, and the OPS began to lose the ability to manage
downtown core streets. The OPS was unable to prevent the entry of heavy equipment
into downtown Ottawa, including a boom truck — a heavy truck with a flatbed back

used to lift and deliver construction equipment — that made its way onto Wellington
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Street and hoisted a Canadian flag outside the top window of the Office of the Prime

Minister.

The OPS also largely lost the capacity to conduct enforcement. When confronted with
illegal activities by protesters, the OPS was unable to issue tickets, lay charges, or

make arrests. This lack of enforcement contributed to a general sense of lawlessness.

While most protesters were not violent, they were disruptive. There were reported
incidents at the National War Memorial, the Tomb of the Unknown Soldier, and the
Terry Fox statue that many residents found upsetting. The Ottawa Paramedic Service
reported treating 17 patients associated with the demonstration. The Shepherds of
Good Hope, a shelter for individuals experiencing homelessness, reported that staff
had been harassed for meals by protesters and that a service user and a security
guard had been assaulted. Large crowds of unmasked protesters at the Rideau

Centre forced the mall to close.

Even as the situation escalated, the OPS did not appear to recognize that they were
facing a long-term disruption to the city. The OPS executive still expected that most
protesters would soon leave. This led the OPS to miss out on early offers of support,
such as when it turned down an offer of 18 front-line OPP constables because the

OPS executive believed they were not necessary.

On January 30, Freedom Convoy organizers held a press conference during which
they addressed the events of the first weekend. Ms. Lich and Mr. Barber participated,
along with Benjamin Dichter, a trucker and podcast producer that Ms. Lich asked to
assist with media relations. During the press conference, Mr. Dichter said, referring to
the chaos caused by the trucks in the downtown core, “That’s what we want. We want
a logistics nightmare for the government because they solve all of our problems, right?
Well, they can solve this problem for us.” He further commented that the truckers had

the intent and financial ability to stay for the long term.

% Transcript of January 30, 2022 Press Conference, COMO00000895, pp. 3 and 4.
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The press conference also addressed reports of misconduct by protesters. Mr. Barber
and Ms. Lich denied that anyone associated with their group was involved in defacing
monuments or urinating on war memorials. Mr. Dichter dismissed reports of protesters
flying Nazi and Confederate flags as “hoax hate” and emphasized the diversity among

protesters and organizers.

Over the course of the weekend, the core group of protesters began to establish
encampments in downtown Ottawa. Around the same time, the OPS learned that other
protesters were re-booking hotels for the following weekend. These two developments
forecast the pattern over the next two weeks: a core group of protesters remaining
in downtown Ottawa, with thousands of additional supporters joining them on the

weekends.

The OPS only identified the need to develop a plan for a longer protest after it realized,
on the evening of January 30, that protesters were staying. In his testimony before
the Commission, OPS Chief Sloly stated that, on January 29, he expected five to ten
percent of protesters and vehicles to stay behind. It does not appear that he or his
deputies considered that if ten percent of the 4,000 — 5,000 vehicles the OPS expected
stayed, it would mean that up to 500 vehicles would remain in Ottawa clogging the
downtown core. By January 30 or 31, Chief Sloly believed that what had begun as a

demonstration had become an occupation.

11.2 The experience of Ottawa residents

Before continuing with a detailed description of the events that took place in Ottawa, it

is important to describe the overall impact of the protests on the city and its residents.

The honking that had characterized the Freedom Convoy’s drive across Canada
continued upon its arrival in downtown Ottawa. Throughout the first week of the
protests, the honking was almost constant, continuing throughout the day and, at
times, into the night. Most of the downtown protest sites had average daytime noise

levels of 90 — 110 decibels in the first week. Ottawa resident Zexi Li, who eventually
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obtained an injunction to stop the honking, testified that she measured noise levels
inside her tenth-floor condo unit as high as 85 — 90 decibels. The negative impact of
the honking was obvious. Some protesters seemed to enjoy the harm that the noise
was causing. In one video, Mr. King laughed when referring to residents’ inability to

sleep.

Many of the trucks in the downtown core were left idling. This caused an abundance of

diesel fumes to permeate the air, not only on the streets, but also in people’s homes.

City services, particularly those in the downtown area, were seriously disrupted.
This included access to City Hall, local libraries, COVID-19 vaccination clinics,
snow removal operations, community and social services, and public transit. Traffic
disruption impacted residents’ lives in many ways. The Children’s Hospital of Eastern

Ontario reported that its cancer patients had difficulty accessing treatment.

| heard witnesses describe a general state of lawlessness in the downtown area.
There was a breakdown of order and social norms, as well as activities that put public
health and safety at risk. Open fires were used by protesters to stay warm, despite the

nearby storage of diesel, propane, and fireworks.

Ottawa’s 911 services were overwhelmed. In addition to a higher than usual number
of legitimate calls, there were also many false 911 calls that seemed intended to

disrupt the system.

| heard credible reports of residents feeling threatened and being harassed by
protesters. On February 3, an individual was criminally charged for uttering threats
against Ottawa Mayor Jim Watson. The same individual was alleged to have
made a death threat against OPS Chief Sloly. Ottawa Department of Emergency
and Protective Services General Manager Kim Ayotte and his family, OPSB Chair
Deans and her staff, and City councillors Catherine McKenney and Mathieu Fleury

also received threats. In addition, private residents were subjected to harassment,
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particularly those who wore masks in public. In some instances, protesters attempted

to remove residents’ masks, resulting in physical altercations.

| also heard evidence of homophobic and transphobic slurs being directed at residents,
and of racialized residents feeling targeted. Some individuals who lived in the area
were too afraid to leave their homes. Vulnerable residents were particularly affected.
These fears were compounded by the seeming inability of the police to protect the
public and preserve law and order. Residents saw symbols of hate in their community,
including swastikas and Confederate flags. Also present was the flag of Diagolon,
a group created by online personality Jeremy Mackenzie, who was in Ottawa with
other Diagolon members during the first weekend of the protests. Law enforcement
and intelligence agencies view Diagolon as a militia-like extremist organization, a

characterization that Mr. Mackenzie disputes.

Downtown businesses were also affected, with many closing in response to the
protests. By some estimates, lost business revenue and lost wages totalled between
CAD$150 million and CAD$210 million.

11.3 The protesters after the first week

Throughout the first week, around 500 vehicles remained in the downtown core.
Convoy participants who stayed in Ottawa were organized around a system of “block
captains” who held daily meetings with protesters camped out in the areas to which

they were assigned.

While many of the protesters slept in their vehicles, others stayed in hotel rooms
that had been provided by financial supporters of the protests. One donor reportedly
spent $100,000 on hotel rooms for protesters. Hotels were also used as command
centres, with different aspects of the protests coordinated out of different hotels.
Mr. Dichter stayed at the Sheraton, where he focused on public and media

messaging. Mr. Garrah, Mr. Bulford, and the Adopt-A-Trucker team established their
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headquarters at the Swiss Hotel, focusing on distributing food, maintaining portable

toilets, shovelling snow from sidewalks, collecting waste, and working with police.

Another command centre took shape at the ARC Hotel. Ms. Lich and Mr. Barber took
up residence there, as did Mr. Bauder and his Canada Unity group. Also located in the

ARC were the leaders of the anti-mandate group Taking Back Our Freedoms (TBOF).

Early in the first week, Ms. Lich concluded that she needed legal advice regarding
the GoFundMe fundraiser that she had started. She was put in touch with the Justice
Centre for Constitutional Freedoms (JCCF) who, in turn, asked Edmonton-based
lawyer Keith Wilson, KC to represent some of the convoy organizers. Mr. Wilson
agreed to lead a team of lawyers, including Eva Chipiuk. On February 2, Mr. Wilson
flew to Ottawa with several individuals, including Chad Eros, an accountant who

agreed to assist Ms. Lich in dealing with the GoFundMe campaign.

Ms. Lich was exhausted as she fielded requests for access to donated funds from
individual protesters and organizations like TBOF. She was concerned that TBOF was

attempting to take over the movement.

When they first met, Ms. Lich felt that Mr. Wilson was genuine and was there to help.
She immediately liked and trusted him. Others did not. Mr. Dichter felt that Mr. Wilson’s
messaging was too negative. Mr. Eros came to believe that Mr. Wilson, Ms. Lich, and
others with roots in the Alberta sovereigntist movement had taken over the narrative

of the Freedom Convoy, which threatened to delegitimize the protest.

11.4 Policing the first week of the protest

Although the OPS realized that the protests had become a more serious policing
problem than it had expected, it did not develop an overall operational plan to
resolve the protests. Instead, it focused on developing a public order sub-plan that

was disconnected from a broader resolution strategy. This resulted in a perception
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that Chief Sloly — who focused on the development of this sub-plan — prioritized

enforcement over other strategies to resolve the protests.

The OPS’s planning challenges were compounded by a general breakdown of
command and control. The breakdown began on February 1, when the OPS shifted
primary operational decision-making authority from the OPS Incident Commander,
Inspector Lucas to the OPS Event Commander, Superintendent Christopher Rheaume.
On February 4, OPS Acting Deputy Chief Ferguson replaced Superintendent Rheaume
with Superintendent Jamie Dunlop. Chief Sloly testified that neither of these changes
were communicated to him until February 5 and that his deputies’ failure to promptly
inform him of these significant changes eroded his trust in his executive team. Chief
Sloly also lacked confidence in Superintendent Dunlop, which led the OPS to
replace him with a third event commander, OPS Superintendent Mark Patterson, on
February 6. The constant changing of event commanders during the protests was

highly disruptive.

Another problem that emerged during the first week of the protests was the failure
to properly employ Police Liaison Teams (PLTs) to manage the protests. PLT
engagement was sometimes misunderstood by OPS leadership as an avenue to make
later enforcement appear more legitimate, or as another means to gather intelligence,
rather than as a tool to build long-term relationships, to identify win-win solutions to
problems, and to shrink the footprint of the protests. Perhaps as a result of these
misunderstandings, the PLT was denied the autonomy it needs to work effectively. In

practice, PLT activities were micro-managed by OPS leadership.

It is hard to understand exactly why these problems existed since the PLT had already
proven its usefulness during the first week of the protests. For example, PLT officers
were instrumental in convincing protesters to peacefully vacate Confederation Park
by February 6. Notwithstanding this early success, the PLTs were underutilized until
mid-February. OPP witnesses testified that there were moments when PLT officers

were sitting idle.
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Public confidence in the police also began to erode during the first week of the
protests. During a briefing for members of Ottawa City Council and OPSB members
on February 2, OPS Chief Sloly stated that “there may not be a policing solution” to
the Freedom Convoy. Chief Sloly testified that he made this statement because no
single police of jurisdiction could handle the size and scale of the events. However, as
Chief Sloly recognized, his statement was widely misunderstood and misinterpreted.
Many members of the public found the statement alarming, and it left them wondering

how the situation could be resolved without police intervention.

OPS members started reaching out to external agencies for help on January 31.
The OPP responded to the request, but the RCMP declined to provide some of the
personnel requested by the OPS. RCMP Commissioner Brenda Lucki was concerned
that the OPS lacked a plan to use RCMP POUs and did not want to commit to providing
those officers until there was greater certainty in how they would be used. She did
not explain to Chief Sloly that this was one of the reasons why she was declining
his request. Requests for policing resources were also made at the political level
including calls between Ottawa Mayor Watson and Prime Minister Trudeau, as well
as provincial Cabinet Minister Lisa MacLeod, and between Chief Sloly and Ontario

Solicitor General Sylvia Jones.

On February 2, the OPP identified that the OPS’s lack of internal command, control,
and communication was frustrating the OPP’s attempts at providing assistance. OPP
Superintendent Abrams testified that the OPS’s response to the Freedom Convoy
remained dysfunctional and dangerous. He pointed to the failure to use PLTs and
confusion within the OPS over who had the authority to direct operational planning as

reasons why he was reluctant to provide additional OPP resources to the OPS.

OPS Chief Sloly attempted to respond to the OPS’s confused command and control
structure by becoming more engaged in decision making and planning. Multiple
witnesses testified that this was counterproductive because it eroded the authority of

the event commander and created more confusion about who was in charge.
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On the morning of February 4, Chief Sloly publicly announced a new “surge, enforce,
and contain” strategy that involved the deployment of an additional 150 officers to
conduct enforcement and contain the protests within the downtown core. Many OPS
officers who were responsible for implementing this plan only learned of it when it was
publicly announced, and partner agencies had not been consulted beforehand. The
OPS also lacked the officers to staff the plan, even though Chief Sloly was told before

the announcement that the OPS did have sufficient personnel.

On February 5, Chief Sloly articulated a number of general priorities for the OPS,
which he believed were already embedded in the OPS’s plan. However, OPS Acting
Deputy Chief Ferguson understood these to be new priorities that would form the
basis for a new plan. Multiple withesses perceived that Chief Sloly’s interventions
contributed to the breakdown of the incident command structure that Chief Sloly was

attempting to remedy.

The end of the first full week of the protests on Sunday, February 6 became a low point
for police — protester relations and internal police morale. This was best characterized
by a series of events involving the Coventry Road site which, by February 6, had
evolved into a logistics hub for the Freedom Convoy. To support the trucks in the
downtown core, protesters were storing thousands of litres of fuel at this site, and this

represented a major safety risk.

The PLT began to negotiate with protest leaders at Coventry Road to get the fuel
stockpile removed. The negotiations went well, and a protest leader agreed to do what
he could to move the fuel off-site. Approximately two hours into these negotiations,
however, the PLT learned that the OPS would be conducting a public order operation
at Coventry Road later that day. Upon hearing this news, the PLT attempted to have
the POU action stopped, but event commander Superintendent Patterson and Deputy
Chief Bell decided to proceed. The result was that the POU moved into the area and
arrested protesters as they were removing fuel, pursuant to their agreement with the
PLT. Protesters understandably viewed this as a betrayal by the OPS. Both OPS and
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OPP PLT members were demoralized and felt that there was no use in trying any

longer since the trust they had cultivated with protesters had been lost.

11.5 City residents begin to fight back

Frustrated by what they perceived to be the lack of a meaningful response by the
OPS, residents of Ottawa began to take their own action against protesters during
the first week. On February 4, Ottawa City Councillor McKenney organized a “safety
walk” with residents in order to “take back the streets.” They organized a second walk
a few days later, but it was called off because of heightened risks of confrontation with

protesters.

Following the first weekend, Ottawa resident Zexi Li became the lead plaintiff in a
proposed class action lawsuit against the protesters. As part of that action, Ms. Li
obtained an injunction on February 7, prohibiting protesters from using air or train
horns within the city. Initially, the injunction was successful, but eventually the honking

resumed.

11.6 The municipality’s response

Ottawa’s primary response during the first week was its decision, on Sunday,
February 6, to declare an emergency. City Manager Kanellakos testified that the
decision was made at that time because it had become evident that the protesters were
staying, and police were reporting that they did not have enough resources. According
to Mr. Kanellakos, the City felt that the declaration would notify the community that the

situation was serious and would signal to the Province of Ontario that it should step in.

On February 7, Ottawa City Council held its first meeting since the start of the protests.

Council passed several motions including the following:
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» asking that the mayor call on the provincial and federal governments to
provide the necessary financial and logistical supports needed to peacefully
end the protests;

» directing staff to apply for an increase to the set fine applicable to several
by-law violations;

« condemning the racism, antisemitism, and discrimination experienced by the
Black, Jewish, Muslim, racialized, and 2SLGBTQI+ communities; and

» petitioning the federal government to assume responsibility for public safety

and security within the Parliamentary Precinct.

On the following day, OPS Chief Sloly wrote to Mayor Watson and OPSB Chair Deans
stating that the OPS was the sole police of jurisdiction and that this last motion lacked

authority.

Council also debated a motion for the City to enter into discussions with the federal
minister of Public Safety to determine whether the Emergencies Act could be invoked

at that time. The motion failed on a 12 to 12 vote.

During the first week, City legal staff worked on the possibility of obtaining some type
of injunction against the protesters. On February 2 and 4, the City’s legal department
asked for information from the OPS about the type of injunction that it would need to
assist in responding to the protests, but found it difficult to get a clear answer. Ottawa
City Solicitor David White concluded that the OPS had lost interest in an injunction. It
seems that the City took the position that it would only seek an injunction if the OPS

said it needed one.

As the protests continued, members of City Council began to push for more action,
and on February 9, they passed a motion asking Mr. White to review the possibility
of pursuing an injunction. During its February 11 meeting, the OPSB also discussed
why an injunction had not yet been sought by the City. That very day, at the direction
of City Manager Kanellakos, the City of Ottawa filed an application for an injunction

in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice. The application was for an order prohibiting
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protesters from violating the City’s by-laws. Associate Chief Justice Faye McWatt

granted the injunction the next day, describing the City’s evidence as overwhelming.

In the end, the City’s injunction was never used by police. Mr. Kanellakos testified

that, in hindsight, it probably would have helped to seek the injunction sooner.

11.7 Ontario’s absence

One theme that emerged during the Inquiry was the view that the Government of
Ontario was not fully engaged in responding to the protests. Many witnesses saw the

Province as trying to avoid responsibility for responding to a crisis within its borders.

These complaints were difficult to assess because Ontario did not fully participate
in the Inquiry. While the Province produced about 1,000 documents and provided
the testimony of a deputy minister and an assistant deputy minister, it did not seek
standing as a party. Moreover, both Premier Doug Ford and Solicitor General Sylvia
Jones refused to be interviewed by Commission counsel. When | issued summonses
to compel their testimony, they invoked Parliamentary privilege and refused to comply.
As a result, the Commission is at a regrettable disadvantage in its understanding of

Ontario’s perspective.

Ontario Deputy Solicitor General Mario Di Tommaso testified that the Province was
“very engaged in providing support to the City of Ottawa through a variety of means”
but also testified that “when the concern was such that the protest was spreading to
other parts of the province ... that's when the Premier decided to act.” | take these
comments as recognition that the Province was not as engaged when protests in

Ontario were limited to Ottawa.

The absence of provincial engagement at the political level is well illustrated by a

series of “tripartite meetings” that took place between February 3 and 10. These were

4 Evidence of Deputy Solicitor General Mario Di Tommaso, Transcript, November 10, 2022,
pp. 160 — 162.
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attempts to bring together officials at the federal, provincial, and municipal levels to
coordinate an integrated response to the protests. They took place at two levels: staff
and ministerial. While Ontario sent representatives to the staff table, it was absent
at the political table. Premier Ford told Mayor Watson that he did not believe these
meetings would be productive. Solicitor General Jones was of the view that responding
to the protests was a law enforcement issue to be dealt with between OPS Chief Sloly

and OPP Commissioner Thomas Carrique, not political officials.

11.8 The Ottawa Police Service requests 1,800 officers

On February 5, the OPSB asked Chief Sloly how many officers the OPS required
to end the protests. Chief Sloly took this to be a formal direction under the Police
Services Act and on February 6, reported that 1,800 additional officers were needed.
OPSB Chair Deans asked the mayor’s office to apply political pressure in acquiring
these resources. The mayor’s office was hesitant to get involved, but after further

discussions, the mayor agreed.

On February 7, Chair Deans, Mayor Watson, and Chief Sloly made the request for
1,800 officers public. Chief Sloly publicized the request in a City Council meeting, and
Mayor Watson and Chair Deans sent co-signed letters to Prime Minister Trudeau,
Federal Public Safety Minister Marco Mendicino, Ontario Premier Ford, and Solicitor

General Jones.

While making the request public likely generated political pressure, it also risked
revealing the OPS’s strategic and operational thinking. The request signalled that
the OPS was preparing for a mass mobilization of resources to attempt to remove

protesters. That created the possibility that protesters could plan a strategic response.

In fairness, the February 7 request was not the only time when political actors
disclosed staffing information, arguably for political purposes. In one media release,
Ontario Solicitor General Jones stated that more than 1,500 OPP officers had been

on the ground in Ottawa from the beginning of the protest. In reality, the OPP had

-62 -



Volume 1 — Executive Summary

contributed a cumulative 1,500 OPP officer shifts. OPP Commissioner Carrique
and Ontario Deputy Solicitor General Di Tommaso characterized the disclosure of
these figures as unhelpful and unwise. When pushed on whether the solicitor general
was politicizing the issue of police resources through this statement, Commissioner
Carrique indicated that the Commission would need to ask the solicitor general
herself; however, as discussed previously, Solicitor General Jones refused to testify

before the Commission.

On the same day that the request for 1,800 officers became public, OPP Commissioner
Carrique, Ontario Deputy Solicitor General Di Tommaso, and RCMP Deputy
Commissioner Duheme heard reports that OPS Chief Sloly had told his team to ask
for twice as many resources as they needed. Chief Sloly acknowledged that he may
have made a remark of this nature during an OPS meeting. While Chief Sloly’s intent
was to encourage the command team to consider how many resources they needed
in the long term, when OPP Superintendent Abrams learned of the request for 1,800

officers the following day, he was understandably suspicious.

11.9 Rideau and Sussex

Tom Marazzo served as an officer in the Canadian Armed Forces for 25 years. He
came to Ottawa during the first weekend of protests, after James Bauder asked
him to assist with logistics. By the evening of February 7, Mr. Marazzo became
concerned about mounting public pressure on the OPS to take action against
protesters. Mr. Marazzo felt that the protest organizers needed to help to relieve

the tension.

On the morning of February 8, OPS Deputy Chief Bell told City Manager Kanellakos
that the PLT wanted to meet with him to discuss a potential meeting with some of the
protesters. Mr. Kanellakos told PLT officers that he would meet with the protesters but
that he needed something in exchange. An officer suggested that the trucks could be

moved out of the residential neighbourhoods.
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At around noon on February 8, the PLT escorted Mr. Marazzo and convoy lawyers
Mr. Wilson and Ms. Chipiuk to Ottawa City Hall to meet with Mr. Kanellakos.
Mr. Marazzo told Mr. Kanellakos that the protesters wanted a meeting with the mayor.
Mr. Kanellakos said that there would be conditions on a meeting; namely, that trucks

move out of the residential areas. Everyone agreed that this would be a positive step.

After the meeting, Mr. Marazzo, Mr. Wilson, Ms. Chipiuk, and the PLT went to the
intersection of Rideau Street and Sussex Drive to try to convince the protesters there
to relocate onto Wellington Street. This intersection was an area of particular concern
for the police due to the highly aggressive attitude of the protesters who were situated
there. Ms. Chipiuk and Mr. Marazzo led the effort to convince the protesters to move.
Eventually, they agreed to do so. Moving the trucks required the assistance of the
OPS, which had previously installed jersey barriers that blocked traffic on Rideau
Street from moving onto Wellington Street. In the early evening, Ms. Chipiuk and
Mr. Marazzo located an OPS PLT member and informed him that the truckers were
ready to move. After a phone call, however, the PLT officer informed the protest

organizers that the OPS would not remove the jersey barriers.

This decision by the OPS appears to be the result of an internal miscommunication.
OPS Acting Superintendent Robert Drummond understood that the plan was to have
the group at Rideau and Sussex leave Ottawa, not relocate to Wellington Street.
Once it became clear that the protesters simply wanted to relocate, the OPS refused

to co-operate. The identity of the individual who did not approve the move is unclear.

In parallel with the negotiations between the City and the protest organizers, the OPS
was planning a public order operation to clear the Rideau — Sussex intersection. An
operation had initially been planned for February 7, the day before Mr. Kanellakos met
with the protesters, but had been postponed for lack of resources. On February 9,
OPS Superintendent Patterson presented another plan for this operation. The OPP

and the RCMP did not support the operation as presented, and an OPS commander
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cancelled it because OPS public order experts felt that the plan was poorly planned

and unsafe.

Unaware of the POU operation that was still under consideration, Mr. Marazzo,
Mr. Wilson, and Ms. Chipiuk met with the PLT on February 9 to see if it might still
be possible to move the trucks out of the Rideau — Sussex intersection. They told
the PLT that, if the police could guarantee the removal of jersey barriers, they could
work with the truckers that were located at the intersection and convince them to
move. Having been forced to abandon its public order operation, the OPS command

eventually approved the plan to move trucks onto Wellington Street.

On February 10, convoy organizer Tamara Lich requested that key organizers and
volunteers meet at Rideau and Sussex at 10 a.m. to try to get the truckers to clear
the intersection. Together with the PLT, they persuaded several truckers to move
onto Wellington Street. At around 4 p.m., the OPS indicated that it would remove
the barriers. Just before sunset, police and City workers arrived at the intersection
with a forklift and tow truck. The police presence in the area was increased to help
manage the move. However, some of the protesters believed that the police were
there to remove the truckers by force and reacted accordingly. Despite Mr. Wilson’s
and Ms. Lich’s efforts to calm the growing crowd, it became impossible to carry out

the operation.

11.10 The Integrated Planning Cell

The February 7 request for 1,800 officers was referred to the OPP and the RCMP for
assessment. The RCMP wanted this request to be supported by a plan before they
committed resources, but the OPS still lacked an overall operational plan to end the
protests. To address this problem, OPP Commissioner Carrique decided, with RCMP
Commissioner Lucki’s support, to establish an Integrated Planning Cell (the Cell) to
assess the OPS’s needs and to support its planning efforts. The Cell was a team of

subject matter experts led by OPP Chief Superintendent Carson Pardy. During the
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first meeting with the Cell on February 8, the OPS agreed to provide the Cell with
its plan and to consider a proposal from Chief Superintendent Pardy to establish a
unified command with the OPP and the RCMP.

OPS Chief Sloly’s attitude toward the Cell was mixed. He saw benefits from the
Cell’s expertise, but also felt that it was assessing whether the OPS was “worthy” of
additional resources. Chief Sloly was also concerned that the Cell would be used to
undermine him and the OPS. On February 9, he commented that integration with the
Cell was, in effect, a zero-sum game: either the OPS would embed the Cell into the
OPS’s plan, or the Cell would embed the OPS into the Cell’s plan. Chief Sloly insisted

that the OPS remain in control.

Chief Sloly proceeded to oversee the development of an operational plan that
reflected his focus on public order operations. This February 9 plan contained a terse,
one-sentence mission statement that emphasized ending unlawfulness and restoring
safe and open neighbourhoods and businesses. The plan called for negotiation but
included little detail on the role of the PLT. Its focus was a series of public order
operations to reduce the protest footprint by clearing protesters out of Ottawa, one
area at a time. The command and control dysfunction and the lack of trust between
Chief Sloly and his deputies that had plagued the OPS during the first week persisted

in the development of this plan.

The OPS’s second meeting with the Cell on February 9 was, at times, contentious.
Chief Sloly insisted that the Cell guarantee specific numbers of officers and suggested
that attempting to plan without those resource commitments would be a waste of time.
The Cell did not view the OPS’s plan as safe. The Cell stated that it wanted to help
the OPS to develop an appropriate plan and was prepared to commit to providing the
resources required to implement it. While Chief Sloly understood the Cell’s perspective

that the OPS’s plan was too aggressive, he did not agree to pause it.

- 606 -



Volume 1 — Executive Summary

From the Cell’s perspective, this meeting did not generate the agreement on planning
or integration that the Cell was seeking. Instead of a joint plan, there were now
two plans: the OPS’s February 9 plan, and a plan that the Cell was developing to

systematically clear the downtown core.

By February 10, OPP Commissioner Carrique had prioritized the deployment of OPP
resources to Windsor to address protests that were taking place there, which | discuss
in Section 12, later in this chapter. He based this decision not only on Windsor’s
economic importance, but also on the fact that the OPS lacked an appropriate plan to
use OPP officers. The RCMP redeployed officers from Ottawa to Windsor for similar
reasons. Neither the RCMP nor the OPP appears to have communicated this decision

to Chief Sloly, which may have contributed to his low expectations of the Cell.

The OPS’s integration, planning, and command and control challenges reached
their breaking point on February 10. The Cell struggled to obtain information on OPS
resources and plans because OPS officers felt unable to provide it without Chief Sloly’s

approval. While the Cell was developing its own plan, the OPS had not endorsed it.

Making matters worse, the relationship broke down between OPS strategic commander
Acting Deputy Chief Ferguson and OPS operational commander Superintendent
Patterson. As | discussed earlier, the February 9 public order action against the
Rideau — Sussex protesters was cancelled. Chief Sloly and Superintendent Patterson
wanted to proceed, but Acting Deputy Chief Ferguson stated that she disagreed with
their approach. In response, Superintendent Patterson accused her of undermining
his authority and colluding with her spouse, who led the OPS PLT. She denied this
allegation. Chief Sloly removed Superintendent Patterson as event commander due

to his comments regarding Acting Deputy Chief Ferguson.

11.11 The OPS’s attempt to “reset”

Superintendent Patterson’s removal paved the way for a significant reset. Chief Sloly

consulted with his deputies on a replacement, and on February 10, they selected
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Acting Superintendent Robert Bernier, one of the OPS’s best-trained commanders.
Acting Superintendent Bernier immediately identified a series of priorities that he

believed would help the OPS to “reset” its response to the protests.

Acting Superintendent Bernier began by developing a new mission statement for
the OPS’s plan that emphasized negotiation, de-escalation, respect for the right to
protest, public safety, and integration of the POU and the PLT into decision making.
He formed an integrated command table to make all operational decisions, which had
seats for POU, PLT, and OPP officers.

The appointment of Acting Superintendent Bernier did not solve all of the OPS’s
challenges. At times, Chief Sloly continued to be engaged in operations. Acting
Superintendent Bernier was not always provided with timely information. Nevertheless,
the course correction that began on February 11 was significant, and marked a

genuine turning point.

By February 11, the Cell had developed a draft plan. It outlined a four-phase approach
to stabilize the situation, dismantle the entire protest zone, maintain the cleared zone,
and then demobilize. RCMP Commissioner Lucki and OPP Commissioner Carrique both
expressed confidence in the draft plan when they were briefed on it on February 11.

OPS Acting Deputy Chief Ferguson also supported it.

However, the Cell and the OPS were still working in silos, and Acting Superintendent
Bernier did not even know that the Cell was developing its own plan. On February 12,
OPS Deputy Chief Bell recognized that there was a need to marry the Cell’s plan
with Acting Superintendent Bernier’s plan. The Cell’'s RCMP representative contacted
Acting Superintendent Bernier later that day, and the work of integrating the plans

began.

While Acting Superintendent Bernier advised the Cell that he had spoken with Chief
Sloly and that the Cell should proceed with the plan, Chief Sloly subsequently told the
Cell that he needed to be briefed on it himself. When OPP Chief Superintendent Pardy
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told Chief Sloly that the Cell wanted greater integration, Chief Sloly responded that he
wanted to be briefed on that, too. On the afternoon of February 12, the Cell briefed
Chief Sloly on its draft plan, but Chief Sloly did not provide his approval. According
to OPP Chief Superintendent Pardy, this occurred because of a statement made by
an RCMP expert during the meeting that unintentionally suggested that Chief Sloly’s
actions could cause the police response to the Ottawa protests to fail. Chief Sloly
requested further documentation and stated that he would not support the Cell’'s

approach if he was not confident in what the OPS and the Cell could accomplish.

On the evening of February 12, the Cell finalized and approved its draft plan. On
February 13, the Cell sought and obtained Acting Superintendent Bernier’s approval,
and Acting Deputy Chief Ferguson informed the Cell that OPS Chief Sloly’s approval
was not required. Chief Sloly told RCMP Commissioner Lucki and OPP Commissioner

Carrique later that evening that the OPS had fully approved the plan.

The February 13 plan was a significant improvement over the February 9 plan. It
detailed how the police would end the protests by first using the PLT to shrink the
footprint of the protests and then launching POU actions to remove any remaining
protesters. It created an integrated OPS — OPP — RCMP strategic command that
would resolve any disagreements between the forces’ operational commanders and

provide a buffer between the operational commanders and the political sphere.

While the February 13 plan did not yet include sub-plans to clear protesters from
downtown Ottawa and tow vehicles, they were under development. Commissioners
Lucki and Carrique expressed confidence in the plan and appeared to be prepared to

commit significant resources to it.

11.12 Continued resistance from residents

By the third weekend of protests, residents’ frustrations were reaching a boiling point.
This frustration culminated on February 13 in “The Battle of Billings Bridge,” a counter

protest that was organized to prevent another convoy from joining the demonstrations
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in the downtown core. Hundreds of residents filled the street, blocking the convoy
from passing. Eventually, protesters agreed to remove the flags supporting the convoy

from their vehicles and were allowed to leave, one at a time.

According to Ottawa City councillors McKenney and Fleury, this was a watershed
moment. The community felt empowered and wanted to take more action. Others
viewed this event quite differently. Prime Minister Trudeau testified that the Government
was concerned that counter protests such as this would become more frequent and

would increase the possibility of violence.

11.13 The “breakthrough” with the protesters

At the same time that the OPS was engaged in its course correction, protesters and

City officials were engaged in renewed talks.

Dean French is the former chief of staff to Ontario Premier Doug Ford. On February 6,
he was put in touch with convoy lawyer Mr. Wilson. Mr. French offered to act as an
intermediary between the protesters and the City of Ottawa to see if the two sides
could find common ground on a way forward. On February 10, Mr. French called
Mayor Watson, whom he knew from his time in politics. Mr. French indicated that he
was willing to facilitate discussions with the protesters. The mayor asked his Chief
of Staff, Serge Arpin, to call Mr. French back. During his first call with Mr. French,
Mr. Arpin suggested that if Mr. French could persuade the convoy organizers to
remove trucks from residential areas, a meeting between the protesters and Mayor
Watson might be possible. Mr. French conveyed this message to Mr. Wilson and the

protesters.

Mr. French continued to have productive one-on-one discussions with Mr. Arpin
and Mr. Wilson, and on February 11, went to Ottawa to iron out a deal. He met with
Mr. Arpin to finalize the details of an agreement, which included a commitment to

move at least 75% of the trucks in residential areas out within 24 — 72 hours.
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Later that day, Mr. French met with protester representatives Mr. Wilson, Ms. Chipiuk,
Ms. Lich, Mr. Marazzo, and several others and finalized the terms of a deal. Some
trucks would be moved onto Wellington Street, while others would depart to the
nearby town of Arnprior. In exchange, the mayor of Ottawa would meet with Ms. Lich
and other protesters. Ms. Lich and Mr. Wilson viewed the deal as a possible exit
strategy for protesters. Several convoy organizers met that evening and decided to

accept the deal.

Letters setting out the terms of the agreement were drafted to be signed by Mayor
Watson and Ms. Lich. On February 12, the two exchanged these letters.5 On February 13,
copies of the letters were distributed to Chief Sloly, OPS legal counsel, City councillors,
and the chief of staff to Minister Mendicino. Both letters were made public later that

day.

The OPS only became aware of these negotiations on February 12. At noon on
February 13, just prior to the letters being made public, there was a call between
City Manager Kanellakos and OPS Chief Sloly. They agreed that OPS Acting
Superintendent Drummond would be assigned to assist with the logistics of
implementing the deal, and that OPS, City, and protester representatives would meet
that evening to sort out the move. At this meeting, Acting Superintendent Drummond
negotiated some of the details of the move with the protesters. It was understood
that the trucks that could not fit onto Wellington Street would leave the city. Acting
Superintendent Drummond told the protesters that even if they moved to Wellington

Street, they could not stay there forever.

The protester group went out to speak to the truckers on the ground to get agreement
on the deal. Although there was some pushback, the protester representatives felt that
they were getting significant buy-in from the truckers. However, not all the organizers

were supportive of these plans, and a number of them worked to undermine them.

® Letter from Jim Watson, February 12, 2022, HRF00001264; Letter from Tamara Lich,
February 12, 2022, HRF00001275.
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Benjamin Dichter used his Twitter account to deny that a deal existed, even though
he had been briefed on it. He caused even more confusion by tweeting a denial from
Tamara Lich’s Twitter account, to which he had access. Patrick King and Brigitte

Belton also denied the existence of a deal, calling it “a false flag” and “fake news.”

Attempts to move trucks began at around 1 p.m. on February 14. At 4:30 p.m., the
Parliamentary Protective Service (PPS) contacted OPS Chief Sloly, expressing
concern at not having been informed of the deal to move trucks. By 5 p.m. it was
dark, and the movement of trucks had stopped for the day. At that time, 102 vehicles
had been moved, including 42 heavy trucks, 23 of which had moved onto Wellington
Street. According to Mr. Wilson, other vehicles may have gone to locations outside of

the city or returned home.

One significant consequence of the February 14 invocation of the Emergencies Act
was the OPS decision, made during a February 15 noon meeting with the Integrated
Command Table, to no longer facilitate the movement of trucks. Other reasons for
this decision, aside from the invocation of the Act, appear to be the PPS’s security
concerns, the limited additional space on Wellington Street, and the fact that not all

protester groups were prepared to leave.

11.14 Challenges in implementing the OPS’s February 13 plan

By February 14, the OPS’s February 13 plan had been approved, but the command,

control, and integration challenges persisted.

Chief Sloly requested that OPS general counsel review the February 13 plan. While
the general counsel advised that she would review but not approve the plan, the Cell
was concerned because it understood that the plan could not be actioned until the
review occurred. In addition, Acting Superintendent Bernier continued to believe that
Chief Sloly wanted to review and approve the plan before it was actioned. RCMP

Commissioner Lucki asked Chief Sloly, on February 14, why he had not signed off on
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the plan. Chief Sloly said that he was shocked by the question and told her that his

approval was not required.

The Cell also believed that the OPS was reviving its area-by-area approach from
the February 9 plan because Acting Superintendent Bernier, without the involvement
of the Cell, decided to launch a public order operation to remove protesters who
remained on the residential streets on February 14. This unilateral initiative caused

the Cell to question the OPS’s commitment to integration and the February 13 plan.

11.15 Police governance during the protests

OPSB Chair Deans had regular one-on-one discussions with Chief Sloly. However,
at the board level, communication was less frequent. During the first week, Chair
Deans was advised by OPS communications personnel that she needed to reduce
the number of OPSB meetings because of finite police resources. When Chair Deans
pursued a meeting on Saturday, February 5, Chief Sloly discouraged her, saying that
he wanted it delayed until Monday because he was fully focused on managing the
protests over the weekend. However, Chair Deans proceeded to hold the meeting

and Chief Sloly attended, as directed.

The minutes of the February 5 meeting show that the OPSB was requesting more
information and putting more pressure on Chief Sloly for particulars around the OPS’s
plan. The minutes of the meeting indicate that Chief Sloly reassured the Board that
a comprehensive plan existed, but that he could not provide them with operational

details. In reality, no comprehensive plan existed at that time.

Prior to the next meeting on February 11, Chief Sloly told Chair Deans that he would
not provide the OPSB with operational information, suggesting that it would have
been unlawful for him to do so. When testifying, however, he agreed that the OPSB
was entitled to any information relevant to its oversight function and there were no

legal impediments to providing this type of information.
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Around this time, Chair Deans began to doubt whether the OPS actually had a plan to
end the protests. She made a further request for information. In response, Chief Sloly
arranged for the OPP to attend on February 15 and brief the Board. This briefing did

not occur because of his resignation, which | discuss in Section 19.1.

Ontario’s Ministry of the Solicitor General is responsible for monitoring, consulting with,
and advising police services boards. Kenneth Weatherill, Inspector General of Policing
in Ontario’s Ministry of the Solicitor General, found it concerning that Chief Sloly did
not share an operational plan with the OPSB when they asked for it. Mr. Weatherill
also observed that the OPSB was not receiving answers to questions it asked of OPS

leadership.

Throughout the relevant period, the OPSB turned to the Ministry of the Solicitor
General to get a more complete understanding of its role. The Board requested
training on its responsibilities and sought guidance on developing relevant policies.
The Ministry declined to provide the requested training in the middle of the protests.
Instead, the Ministry offered to answer any specific questions that the Board had. On
February 9, the OPSB provided a list of seven questions, and the Ministry provided
a detailed response, emphasizing the Board’s right to request information from the
OPS.

12. The Windsor and Ambassador Bridge protests

The Ambassador Bridge in Windsor, Ontario serves as a Canadian port of entry (POE)
from Detroit, Michigan. Originally targeted for a slow roll protest, the Ambassador
Bridge was blocked by protesters starting on February 7. While this was not the first
blockade of a Canadian POE that was inspired by the protests in Ottawa, it was perhaps
the most significant due to the critical role the bridge plays in Canada’s economy. The
blockade would become a major preoccupation of the Federal Government in the

days leading up to the invocation of the Emergencies Act, as well as the catalyst for
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greater involvement by the Province of Ontario in responding to the Freedom Convoy

movement.

12.1 The City of Windsor

The City of Windsor is in Southwestern Ontario, on the southern bank of the Detroit
River. It is both a vital trade link with the United States and home to hundreds of
thousands of residents. Windsor and Detroit are connected by a series of international
crossings, the largest of which is the Ambassador Bridge. In 2021, the Ambassador

Bridge was associated with almost 24% of Canada’s trade activity by road.

On the Canadian side of the border, there are two entrances to the bridge: the primary
entrance from Huron Church Road and a secondary entrance from Wyandotte Street
West. Huron Church Road is a major artery in the city, and connects to Highway 401,

a little more than three kilometres from the Ambassador Bridge.

The Windsor Police Service (WPS) is the police of jurisdiction in the City of Windsor.
While the Ambassador Bridge itself falls within federal jurisdiction, the WPS responds
to emergencies on the bridge. In January and February 2022, Pamela Mizuno was
the chief of the WPS. Superintendent (Investigation Services) Jason Crowley and
Inspector Karel DeGraaf acted as the WPS Critical Incident Commanders (CIC) during
the protests. In their capacity as CICs, they were in charge of making operational
decisions for the WPS. Subsequently, the OPP would appoint Superintendent Dana
Earley as its CIC in Windsor.

The WPS has limited experience with large-scale public order events. It does not have
a Public Order Unit (POU) or a Police Liaison Team (PLT); however, it uses officers

trained in crisis negotiations in a similar capacity to how other forces use PLTs.

The mayor of Windsor is Drew Dilkens. He is also the chair of the Windsor Police
Services Board (WPSB). Stephen Laforet is Fire Chief and Community Emergency

Management Coordinator for the City. He has primary responsibility for coordinating
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the development and implementation of Windsor’s emergency management program.
As in Ottawa, police led the response to the protests, with City officials acting in a

support capacity.

12.2 Pre-arrival intelligence and preparation

Windsor had already been the site of several slow roll protests in December 2021
and January 2022, including two along Huron Church Road on January 23 and 29,
both of which caused disruptions to the Ambassador Bridge. The WPS knew the
organizers of these protests and were in communication with them in December and
January. The WPS also monitored the social media accounts of known protesters.
On February 3, the WPS learned on social media that protesters were planning a
new slow roll protest in Windsor and confirmed this directly with protest organizers.
Superintendent Crowley requested that his team prepare an operational plan to deal

with the expected slow roll.

The WPS also had access to several sources of information and intelligence, including
the Hendon reports. The first identification of an Ambassador Bridge blockade was in
the January 31 Hendon Report; however, no particular date for such a protest was
listed. The first time a specific date was mentioned was in the February 4 Hendon
Report. It noted that commercial truck drivers would conduct slow roll protests in the
coming days and might attempt to block the Ambassador Bridge on February 7. That
same day, the WPS began to seek out POU resources from other jurisdictions in
Ontario, and WPS Chief Mizuno reached out to OPP Commissioner Carrique directly
to request assistance. Chief Mizuno briefed Mayor Dilkens on the anticipated slow roll

and the threat of a blockade.

The February 6 Hendon Report reiterated the possibility that the slow roll protest
planned for that day could turn into a blockade. The WPS began formally liaising with
the OPP, the RCMP, the CBSA, and others to obtain further assistance. However,

because resources were needed in Ottawa, only limited assistance was available.
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12.3 The start of the Windsor protests

On February 6, more than 100 vehicles gathered at Mic Mac Park in Windsor. The
protesters were generally co-operative with the WPS, although some responded

aggressively to the presence of three WPS officers.

At 10:05 a.m. on February 7, a relative of a convoy participant called the WPS to
say that the protesters were planning on shutting down the border. That morning,
Chief Mizuno advised City officials that protesters were meeting in the nearby town of
Comber, Ontario, and that a convoy would be driving into Windsor that morning with
the purpose of blocking the Ambassador Bridge. Early that morning, Chief Mizuno
and WPS Deputy Chief Jason Bellaire exchanged emails regarding the possibility
of stopping the convoy before it reached the bridge. However, the WPS could not
implement this because the number of personal vehicles in the convoy made it difficult
to determine who was a protester and who was simply a motorist. Similarly, attempts
by WPS officers to convince protesters at Mic Mac Park not to engage in a blockade

failed due to the lack of any clear protest leader to negotiate with.

The WPS identified strategic intersections leading to the Ambassador Bridge and
attempted to control movement through them. This worked at first, but protesters
responded by improvising alternative blockade locations. By mid-afternoon,
southbound traffic on Huron Church Road was stopped just south of College Avenue.

By the early evening, traffic into the United States was also blocked.

On the evening of February 7, WPS officers engaged with protesters who had parked
their vehicles at Assumption High School. The WPS had two tow trucks ready to assist
in removing the vehicles when the protesters became confrontational. Protesters
threatened violence with tire irons, jammed the towing company’s phone lines, and

threatened to attend the tow yard.

-77 -



Report of the Public Inquiry into the 2022 Public Order Emergency

Over the next few days, the Ambassador Bridge was sometimes only partially blocked,
and other times fully blockaded. However, throughout this period, commercial traffic

was at a standstill.

At 6:30 a.m. on February 8, 2022, Superintendent Crowley sought further assistance
from the OPP. Later that day, the OPP PLT arrived in Windsor. The OPP PLT
convinced protesters to open a limited number of lanes and keep an emergency lane
open. However, sometime on February 8, protesters blocked Huron Church Road
and Tecumseh Road West, which further strained police resources. The WPS had to

begin deploying non-uniformed personnel to help manage the protest.

City officials were also working to obtain additional resources at the political level.
Windsor Mayor Dilkens asked Chief Mizuno what additional resources the WPS
required and was told that they needed 100 additional officers. On February 7 or 8,
Mayor Dilkens had separate calls with Ontario Solicitor General Jones and Federal
Public Safety Minister Mendicino. In parallel with these discussions, the WPS and the
OPP were also communicating about the request for 100 officers. OPP Superintendent
Mike McDonell advised WPS Superintendent Crowley that the OPP needed a plan for
how the WPS intended to use 100 front-line OPP officers.

On February 9, Chief Mizuno sent formal requests for policing resources to both the
Province of Ontario and the Federal Government, while Superintendent Crowley
circulated a document outlining how the WPS intended to use the resources it was
requesting. POUs from both the OPP and the Waterloo Regional Police Service
began to arrive in Windsor that day. The arrival of these units was a welcome relief for
the WPS as the protests continued and, in some respects, grew in seriousness. As
of 7:30 p.m. on Wednesday, February 9, there were approximately 125 vehicles and
300 people in the vicinity of the Ambassador Bridge. The City received a report from
one of its contracted parking enforcement supervisors of increasing aggression from

protesters.
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On the morning of Thursday, February 10, an OPP command team headed by
Superintendent Earley arrived in Windsor. The WPS and the OPP established a
unified command, which jointly controlled operations. Under the shared command,
planning and command responsibility for any given operation was assigned to the
CIC whose police force was leading the operation. In practice, this meant that the

OPP was responsible for the public order response.

Upon her arrival in Windsor, Superintendent Earley set about developing a public
order plan that would permit police to clear the blockade as soon as possible. By the
end of the day on February 10, Superintendent Earley made the decision to launch
the public order enforcement action on the morning of February 12. She picked this
date and time because it was likely that fewer protesters and no children would be

present.

12.4 The provincial declaration of emergency, the injunction, and
the enforcement plan

The City first began considering the possibility of seeking an injunction on the afternoon
of February 9. The next day, City Council voted in favour of doing so. The City ultimately
decided that instead of bringing the injunction itself, it would support one brought by
the Automotive Parts Manufacturers’ Association. The hearing for this injunction took
place on February 11. Chief Justice Geoffrey Morawetz of the Ontario Superior Court
of Justice granted the motion and imposed a temporary 10-day injunction prohibiting

protesters from blocking access to the Ambassador Bridge.

The Province of Ontario also took action on February 11. In addition to supporting the
injunction application, it declared that an emergency existed under the Emergency
Management and Civil Protection Act (EMCPA). It used its powers under that law
to make the Critical Infrastructure and Highways Order, which prohibited impeding
access to certain types of infrastructure, such as the Ambassador Bridge, and gave

police additional authorities to remove blockades.
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Both the City and the WPS began to use signs, social media, and flyers to notify
protesters that it was unlawful for them to blockade the Bridge. At 7:24 p.m.,
Superintendent Earley signed off on the operational plan to remove the blockade. The
OPP and other participating public order units were positioned and ready to begin
enforcement action. However, by then night had fallen and as news of the injunction
spread, protesters were becoming more confrontational, so Superintendent Earley

prepared to begin the operation the next morning.

Superintendent Earley briefly considered delaying enforcement even longer, after
a discussion with OPP command about the possibility of a negotiated resolution to
the protests. This option only emerged on the afternoon of February 11, when one
of the protest leaders, Jake Neufeld, told an OPP PLT member that the protesters
would leave if they received a letter from the Provincial Government inviting them to a

meeting. The decision was made to distribute such a letter to the protesters.

Superintendent Earley learned that a similar letter would be distributed to protesters
in Ottawa on the afternoon of February 13. She decided to pause the planned action
in Windsor because she feared that it could negatively impact negotiations in Ottawa.
Within half an hour of making this decision, OPP Deputy Commissioner Chris Harkins
told her that she should not be concerned about potential impacts on the Ottawa
negotiations. Superintendent Earley advised her command table that they would
proceed with the planned enforcement action the next morning if the Windsor letter

was not successful.

At 8:24 p.m., Superintendent Earley received a signed copy of the letter from the
Province offering the possibility of a meeting in exchange for ending the blockade.
PLT members distributed the letter to protesters, along with a flyer about the effect
of the provincial declaration of emergency. Some protesters left in response to the
letter, but many did not. There was too little time between the distribution of this letter
and the planned public order enforcement action for the letter to have any meaningful

effect.
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12.5 Clearing the protests at the Ambassador Bridge

On the morning of February 12, there were approximately 500 protesters and 100
vehicles participating in the blockade of the Ambassador Bridge. Starting at 8:20 a.m.,
police began to clear the blockade. By 10 a.m., they had cleared the first of three main

protest areas, and by 11:12 a.m., the second area was cleared.

By the afternoon of February 12, however, the number of protesters had increased
enough to outnumber police, and police observed mounting aggression. Superintendent
Earley decided to pause the enforcement action partway through clearing the third
area and reinforce it for the night. That evening, protesters made attempts to breach

the POU line, and police had to bring in additional officers.

The POU resumed their enforcement action at 7:54 a.m. on February 13, when there
were fewer protesters present. By 8:46 a.m., they had cleared the third area. By the
end of the enforcement action, 47 individuals had been criminally charged, although
the charges against four of the protesters were subsequently withdrawn. A total of 37

vehicles were towed.

When the blockade was cleared, Mayor Dilkens notified Minister Mendicino, Premier
Ford, and the solicitor general. Premier Ford expressed some relief, as Mayor Dilkens
understood that major companies in Windsor, including the automotive and agricultural

industry, were putting pressure on the premier to resolve the situation.

Significant traffic controls and police presence remained along Huron Church Road.
Police closed all side street access by installing wall-to-wall jersey barriers so that the
road could only be used to access the Ambassador Bridge. Emergency vehicles and
those with a legitimate need to cross were permitted to do so at designated access
points. This corridor, which effectively bifurcated the city, was in place for several
weeks and then scaled back incrementally with the support of a significant continued

police presence. A secure perimeter was kept in place until March 28, 2022.
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On February 14, Mayor Dilkens learned, through media reports, of rumours that
the Emergencies Act might be invoked. Shortly after 9 a.m., he asked Minister
Mendicino if the Federal Government would be taking this step but did not receive a
direct response. However, at around noon, Minister Mendicino texted Mayor Dilkens
suggesting that it would be helpful if the mayor could be “supportive” of any “additional

authorities” that could assist in keeping the Ambassador Bridge open.

Intelligence collected by police following the clearing of the blockade reflected that
there were continued threats to the bridge and other locations in Windsor. In some
cases, these threats materialized. For example, on February 15, police learned of
a convoy from Ottawa headed toward Windsor. Police successfully intercepted the
convoy. Peaceful protests continued in Windsor, albeit with smaller numbers of

individuals.

13. The Coutts protests

The Coutts Port of Entry (POE) is located near the village of Coutts, Alberta, and is
approximately 20 km south of the town of Milk River along Highway 4. The Coutts POE
is the busiest land border crossing in Alberta. Jim Willett is the mayor of Coutts, and
the RCMP is the police of jurisdiction. The blockade at the Coutts POE was notable
for its duration, complexity, and volatility, as well as the dramatic way in which it was
resolved: an RCMP action that uncovered a cache of weapons and allegations of a

conspiracy to murder police officers.

13.1 The lead-up to the protest and the establishment of the
blockade

On January 19, 2022, the RCMP first became aware of the possibility of protests at
the Coutts POE through open-source intelligence. On January 24, an organizer of
a planned protest called the Coutts Village Office to let them know there would be

a slow roll convoy in the area. The organizer emphasized that the protest would not
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result in a road blockage. Social media posts advertised a protest set to take place on
January 29. The tone of the posts varied. Some emphasized a family-friendly event,
while others referred to blocking traffic and staying until all COVID-19 mandates and

restrictions were lifted.

The RCMP also spoke with protest organizers, who said that they did not intend to
stage a blockade. Their plan was to conduct three slow rolls between Coutts and
Milk River, ensuring that at least one lane of traffic remained unobstructed while they

protested.

On January 29, a convoy of approximately 1,000 vehicles gathered in Lethbridge,
Alberta, and proceeded toward Coutts on Highway 4. As the convoy neared Coultts,
a lengthy backlog formed along the highway. Eventually, a truck jackknifed across
the highway, blocking traffic. According to the RCMP, a splinter group of protesters
wished to take a more aggressive stance than the organizers, and the organizers did

not have sufficient control of the convoy to stop them.

Only some of the protesters present in Coutts on the weekend of January 29 — 30
intended to participate in a long-term protest. By January 31, most vehicles had
departed, and only about 175 vehicles remained. However, several drivers positioned

their trucks to fully block Highway 4.

The RCMP deployed a Consultative Conflict Management Group (CCMG), their
version of a PLT, to negotiate with remaining protesters to clear the highway.
The immediate difficulty that they faced was an inability to identify a clear leader
to negotiate with. While protesters had begun to use Smuggler’s Saloon, a bar in
Coultts, as a forum to discuss their collective strategy, at that time there was little to no

organization or leadership for the protests.

On January 31, additional protesters began to arrive on the highway north of the
Coutts POE. In order to prevent more vehicles from joining the blockade, the RCMP

created a checkpoint south of Milk River known as Checkpoint 10. Over the course of

-83-



Report of the Public Inquiry into the 2022 Public Order Emergency

January 31, the number of protesters at Checkpoint 10 swelled to between 500 and

700, effectively forming a second blockade along the highway.

The RCMP began to take actions to clear out the Coutts blockade on February 1. This
initially involved RCMP officers approaching vehicles at the back of the convoy and
asking the drivers to leave the area. This was met with success, and some vehicles
departed. Through social media, protesters at the Milk River blockade became aware
of what was taking place and began to drive off-road to bypass Checkpoint 10 and
make their way toward Coutts. As these protesters arrived, their vehicles added to the

blockade, significantly expanding it.

RCMP CCMG members went to Smuggler’s Saloon to attempt to negotiate a
resolution. Late on February 1 or in the early morning of February 2, they reached
an agreement with protesters to open one lane of traffic in each direction. Marco Van
Huigenbos, a local town councillor and unofficial spokesperson for the protesters,
testified that the protesters agreed to do this to reduce the risk of further enforcement

action, and to emphasize the fact that they were engaged in peaceful protest.

13.2 The evolving character of the protests

Between February 3 and 7, traffic along the highway was slow, and there were many
sporadic disruptions. On February 3, a full blockade was re-established. Soon after,
Grant Hunter, an Alberta Member of the Legislative Assembly (MLA) who had already
been speaking with the protesters, tried to convince them to reopen one lane of traffic.
It seems that they were about to agree when Artur Pawlowski, a well-known Calgary
pastor, delivered a sermon at Smuggler’s Saloon that incited the crowd and made

them take a more entrenched attitude.

During this time, the size and makeup of the protesters fluctuated. Large numbers
were present on weekends, with significantly fewer attending on weekdays. Mayor
Willett also commented that, over time, the character of the protests changed. Fewer

children and families were present, and the tone became more confrontational.
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On February 8, after days of constant changes in the state of the protest, a full blockade
was re-established. This was in reaction to a speech made by Alberta Premier Jason
Kenney about easing public health restrictions. Protesters viewed the Premier as
being too slow to act and believed that there was too much uncertainty about when

restrictions would be eased.

13.3 Political engagement with protesters

Throughout the protests at Coutts, a range of politicians engaged with protesters
in order to hear their concerns and attempt to resolve the blockade. Mr. Hunter
appears to have been the first elected official to travel to the protests, arriving there
on January 30. At other times, Alberta MLAs Drew Barnes and Shane Getson were
also present. On February 5, local Member of Parliament Glen Motz arrived with
Mayor Lorne Buis of the Village of Foremost to speak with protesters. None of these

individuals represented the Government of Canada or the Government of Alberta.

Alberta Minister of Transportation Rajan Sawhney spoke on the phone with Mr. Van
Huigenbos, though she was not speaking on behalf of the Provincial Government,
either. Mayor Willett also tried to have Minister Sawhney come to Coutts in person,

but this never happened.

Direct political engagement did not resolve the situation. In part, this may have been
because none of the politicians were there in official government roles. Another
explanation was that for many protesters, dialogue was not enough. They were not

looking to be heard; they were looking for their demands to be met.

13.4 Efforts to procure tow trucks

The RCMP recognized that it would need tow trucks and other heavy equipment to
clear the blockade if protesters refused to depart voluntarily. While a number of tow

truck operators were hired to provide services, these plans began to fall apart as
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early as February 1, when supporters of the blockade encouraged boycotts of anyone
assisting the RCMP.

On February 4, RCMP Deputy Commissioner Curtis Zablocki, commanding officer of
K Division (Alberta), signed a request for assistance (RFA) to the Canadian Armed
Forces for access to heavy towing capacity. The RCMP was later told that the military

did not have the equipment that would be suitable for use at Coutts.

The Government of Alberta was also seeking to obtain equipment with heavy towing
capabilities. On February 2, Premier Kenney and Minister Mendicino discussed the
request for military equipment, and on February 5, a formal RFA was sent by the
Province in a letter from Minister of Municipal Affairs Ric Mclver to Minister Mendicino
and Minister of Emergency Preparedness Bill Blair. On February 7, having not yet
received a response from the Federal Government, the Province of Alberta began to
procure its own heavy towing equipment. By February 12, it had started to receive
some of the equipment it expected to need but had difficulty locating operators who
were trained to use the vehicles. In total, the Province purchased 12 vehicles at a cost
of more than $800,000.

Alberta never received a formal response to its RFA due to human error. A letter

turning down the RFA was drafted and approved by Minister Blair but was never sent.

13.5 Security concerns, renewed enforcement, and the end of
the blockades

As early as January 31, the RCMP was concerned about the possible presence of
firearms within the protester group at Coutts. They had received reports of a protester
with a gun, which they investigated without success. None of the protesters they spoke

with were willing or able to identify who among them may have had the weapon.

Concern about firearms resurfaced on February 9, when the CCMG officers obtained

new information about a possible cache of weapons. On February 11, the RCMP
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obtained a wiretap authorization, and on February 13, based on the results of that
order, they obtained a search warrant. The warrant authorized searches of Smuggler’s

Saloon as well as a motorhome and two trailers.

The RCMP executed the warrant in the early morning hours of February 14. The
RCMP seized 13 long guns, two handguns, two sets of body armour, a machete,
a large quantity of ammunition, and high-capacity magazines. One of the pieces of
body armour had patches that depicted the symbol of Diagolon, the alleged extremist
organization that | discuss in Section 11.2 of this chapter. The police arrested 12
individuals during the execution of the warrants. Later that day, they arrested a
thirteenth person who had been travelling from Calgary to Coutts while allegedly in

possession of two additional firearms.

The arrests by the RCMP on February 14, 2022 played a significant role in ending the
blockades. Mr. Van Huigenbos testified that the message of the protesters “had been
lost” as soon as the news of the seizure began to circulate. By 7 p.m. on February 14,
the protesters agreed with the RCMP to dismantle the blockade and disperse the next
day. Many protesters returned to their homes. Others — mostly from the Milk River
camp — moved to a nearby location that was offered by the Provincial Government

as an alternative protest site, with some staying there for weeks.

14. Protests at other ports of entry

14.1 Southern Ontario

Southern Ontario represents a vital trade corridor with the United States. Canada’s
four busiest commercial land border crossings — the Ambassador Bridge in Windsor,
the Blue Water Bridge in Sarnia, the Peace Bridge in Fort Erie, and the Queenston
Lewiston Bridge in Queenston — are all located in this region. When the Ambassador

Bridge was blocked, much of the commercial traffic was re-routed to the three other
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crossings. In addition to dealing with increased traffic, the Blue Water Bridge and

Peace Bridge POEs were subjected to disruptive protests.

On February 5, 2022, the CBSA received information that a convoy of protesters was
headed to the Blue Water Bridge and intended to block it. A convoy of approximately
400 vehicles arrived on February 6 and blocked all U.S.-bound traffic. After about
three-and-a-half hours, protesters began to disperse, and by February 7, the CBSA
reported no impact to its operations. On February 9, protesters re-established a
blockade nearby, but traffic was diverted and could continue to access the bridge.

This blockade continued until February 14.

On February 12, approximately 120 vehicles set up a blockade near the Peace Bridge
POE. Protests continued on February 13, and that afternoon, police directed the Peace
Bridge Authority to close the bridge to U.S.-bound commercial traffic. That evening, law
enforcement cleared protester vehicles off nearby roads, and only 15 — 20 pedestrian
protesters remained. By 9 a.m. on February 14, the Peace Bridge was reopened to
U.S.-bound traffic.

14.2 Emerson, Manitoba

The Emerson POE, located in Emerson, Manitoba, is the busiest land border POE in
Manitoba. Slow roll protests took place at the Emerson POE on January 17 and 18,
2022. On January 29, a convoy of vehicles began to circle about five kilometres north
of the POE, causing traffic congestion. The next day, vehicles blocked the southbound

lanes headed to the United States, but they departed that evening.

On February 2, a 14-vehicle convoy appeared at the Emerson POE and conducted a
slow roll protest. The leader of this convoy was the same individual who appeared to
be leading the late-January protests. The RCMP was in communication with him, and

the protesters departed later that day.
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On February 9, the same protest leader contacted the RCMP and advised that a
group of Freedom Convoy supporters might attempt to block the POE. The next day,
approximately 50 vehicles started a blockade about one-and-a-half kilometres north
of the Emerson POE.

The RCMP assembled a Divisional Liaison Team (DLT) — an equivalent to a PLT —
to negotiate with protest leaders. From February 10 to 14, the DLT continued to
discuss a resolution to the blockade with the protesters. During these discussions,
the RCMP observed a gradual reduction in the number of vehicles occupying the
area. On February 13, the RCMP informed a lawyer who was advising protesters that
enforcement actions might occur soon and that charges could be laid. The next day,
the RCMP completed a plan to initiate an operation to clear the blockade if it did not
resolve by February 15. This plan was never put into operation because on February 15
the protesters informed the RCMP that they had agreed to depart midday the next day,

which is what occurred.

14.3 Pacific Highway, British Columbia

The Pacific Highway POE is in Surrey, British Columbia. It is the fifth busiest commercial
land border crossing in Canada. On February 7, 2022, small groups of protesters
began to assemble at the POE. On February 9, there were 20 — 30 protesters in
the area, but by the early evening of February 12, there were approximately 800.
Aggressive conduct by the protesters led to a service disruption at the POE and

caused local RCMP to call in reinforcements from nearby detachments.

On February 13, the RCMP made a small number of arrests and moved other
protesters. By the next day, 25 — 50 vehicles and their operators remained on the
road and refused to leave. An additional 12 arrests were made on February 14, and
multiple vehicles were removed from the area. On February 15, the POE became

operational again.
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On February 19, the RCMP had information regarding a convoy of approximately
400 big rigs and passenger vehicles approaching the area. Shortly after noon, as
a preventive measure and to help ensure safety, the RCMP blocked vehicle and
pedestrian access to the POE. Surrey RCMP became aware of several incidents
involving a group of aggressive protesters who surrounded members of the media.
Police intervention was required to ensure that the journalists could safely get to their
vehicles. Protesters were cleared over the ensuing hours, and the POE resumed

normal operations late that night.

14.4 Other ports of entry

Many other POEs were targeted by protesters. Some resulted in partial disruptions,
such as a protest at the Woodstock, New Brunswick POE on January 29. Others
raised complex problems for Canadian authorities, such as a February 13 protest
at the Ontario-based Cornwall POE that risked cutting off the Akwesasne Mohawk

community that lives on Cornwall Island from the rest of Canada.

Throughout this period, the CBSA, law enforcement, and government officials were
confronted with a constantly changing environment and shifting intelligence. Officials
made significant efforts to respond to threats to POEs, although in most cases,
disruptions did not occur. The CBSA, for example, reported disruptions at 19 POEs
in January and February 2022, though they received information about many more
possible blockades. There were also concerns about blockades of a rail crossing and

disruptions at the Port of Halifax, neither of which occurred.

15. Protests in other locations

Protests also occurred in cities and smaller communities around the country. Nearly
all required significant resources and efforts from government and law enforcement at

the provincial and local levels.
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15.1 British Columbia

From February 5 to 6, 2022, protesters supporting the convoy to Ottawa gathered at
the Legislative Assembly of British Columbia in Victoria. That weekend, there were
also protests in Kelowna, Salmon Arm, Osoyoos, Powell River, the Fraser Valley,

Campbell River, Fort Nelson, Fort St. John, 100 Mile House, Nelson, and Vancouver.

On February 12, protests also occurred across the province, including another
protest targeting the Legislature in Victoria, but the Victoria Police Department
reported no major issues. Demonstrations at the Legislature in Victoria persisted
until February 20, and protesters said they would remain until COVID-19 mandates
ended. By February 17, only about 30 people were left, but on Saturday, February 19,
a convoy of 400 vehicles drove from Campbell River to the Legislature. There was also

a counter protest that day.

Also on February 19, a convoy of 400 vehicles participated in a rally in Chilliwack and
at the Osoyoos border crossing. On February 20, small protests occurred in Penticton

and at the Paterson border crossing.

15.2 Alberta

Several convoys, rallies, and protests occurred throughout Alberta between
January 29 and February 22, 2022. The Government of Alberta reported that
these events were generally peaceful, non-violent, and did not result in multi-day

occupations of cities or other locations.

Approximately 9,000 people and 200 vehicles converged on Edmonton on January 29.
These initial protests were followed up by calls on social media using keywords like

“Bear Hug” and suggesting blockades and highway slowdowns.

On February 5, the Edmonton Police Service reported a growing but peaceful crowd

of approximately 1,000 people at the Alberta Legislature Building in Edmonton. Some
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counter protesters threw eggs at protesters from downtown condo balconies. It was

reported that protest events were dispersed by the end of the day.

February 5 saw significant protests in the City of Calgary. Media reported that
thousands of people marched through downtown Calgary. A Freedom Rally took
place in Central Memorial Park involving an estimated 3,000 — 4,000 protesters and

approximately 20 vehicles, including a dump truck that continuously blew its horn.

Protest activity resumed on the weekend of February 11 — 13, and the City of Edmonton
obtained an interim injunction prohibiting the frequent or sustained sounding of horns.
Edmonton’s downtown core experienced traffic congestion that weekend caused by
700 — 800 vehicles. Edmonton police kept protesters and counter protesters apart to

avoid confrontations.

Approximately 5,000 people, accompanied by a convoy of about 50 vehicles, attended
a rally against public health measures in Calgary from February 11 to 13. On the
afternoon of February 22, about 225 vehicles and 1,500 pedestrians demonstrated in

front of the Legislature in Edmonton.

15.3 Saskatchewan

The Government of Saskatchewan became aware that a “Freedom Convoy” protest
was planned for Saturday, February 5, at the Saskatchewan Legislative Building
in Regina. Convoy protesters and their vehicles blocked the right driving lane of a
loop of streets around Wascana Centre, while leaving the left driving lane open for
emergency vehicles. Some protesters were upset and verbally abusive when ticketed
for violating by-laws. Most protesters left by midnight on February 6, and the following

morning police initiated an enforcement plan to disperse remaining protesters.

Starting on February 7, the RCMP received intelligence of planned protest activity at
the Regway border crossing for February 12, and at the North Portal border crossing

for February 18. Protesters in vehicles set up camps on private property near the
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border crossings, at the invitation of the owner. Delays were initially expected at the

border crossings, but it appears that blockades never materialized.

15.4 Winnipeg

Protest activity in Manitoba centred around the Manitoba Legislative Building in
Winnipeg. On February 1, the Winnipeg Police Service became aware of planned
protests that were modelled on what was occurring in Ottawa. A group of people and
vehicles gathered at the Legislature in Winnipeg on Friday, February 4, and remained
there until February 23. Approximately 100 — 300 protesters initially attended. On
weekends, attendance could reach around 1,000. Traffic disruptions were minimal,
but the protests generated considerable noise in one of Winnipeg's most densely

populated areas.

On February 23, police delivered a letter to protest organizers, warning that anyone
who remained after 5 p.m. risked being arrested, and their vehicles could be subject

to forfeiture. The protesters departed later that day.

15.5 Toronto

The Toronto Police Service (TPS) learned in early February 2022 that convoys from
multiple locations were planning to converge in Toronto, Ontario on February 5 to
replicate events in Ottawa. On February 3, the TPS began developing a plan to protect

critical public services.

As expected, the convoys arrived in Toronto on February 5. Planned traffic management
measures prevented convoy vehicles from reaching their destinations in front of and
around Queen’s Park, which is the location of the Provincial Legislature. As a result,
there were no major disruptions of critical public services. Several vehicles blocked
the intersection of Avenue Road and Bloor Street West, but this area is some distance

from critical public service locations, which minimized the demonstration’s impact.
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When the TPS learned that a convoy intended to target Toronto’s downtown core on
February 12, police developed another response plan. As with the convoy events of
February 5, the protests on February 12 resulted in limited disruption to municipal and

critical services, while permitting protests to take place.

15.6 Quebec

Protests in support of the Freedom Convoy occurred in Québec City from February 3
to 6, 2022. About 10,000 protesters converged at the National Assembly, peaking on
Saturday, February 5. The Sareté du Québec (SQ) reported that the atmosphere was

festive. Most demonstrators left the city by the evening of February 6.

On February 16, the SQ reported about 20 convoys in the province, but none were
obstructing critical infrastructure. Also on February 16, RCMP and open-source
information suggested that protesters would attempt to block the St-Bernard-de-
Lacolle border crossing. The SQ prepared a risk assessment and an operational plan
in response to this threat. This operation was widely publicized and ultimately no

blockade materialized.

On February 19, there was a major demonstration at the National Assembly. Using
lessons learned from the previous protests, police negotiated an agreement with
protesters to allow those with trucks, tractors, and tractor trailers parked in front of
the National Assembly to blow their horns for two blocks of time on February 19. The

protest dispersed on the afternoon of February 20.

15.7 New Brunswick

New Brunswick had multiple anti-mandate protests starting in mid-January 2022.
Some of these events resulted in significant traffic disruptions, notably near Fredericton
City Hall on January 22, and in downtown Moncton and at the New Brunswick — Nova
Scotia border on January 23. In late January, protests occurred at the New Brunswick

— Nova Scotia border and the New Brunswick — Maine border crossing, but these
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blockades did not last longer than an hour-and-a-half because of severe weather
conditions. There were also small convoys and protests in Fredericton, Moncton, Saint
John, Bathurst, Quispamsis (at the Premier’s residence), and Grand Falls during the

week of February 4 — 10, with no reported threats to public or police safety.

A planned four-day demonstration at the Legislative Assembly of New Brunswick in
Fredericton began on February 11. Police set up four blockades near the Legislature
and 15 checkpoints at entrances to the city where heavy trucks were stopped, their
manifests checked, and those without business in Fredericton were turned away.
On February 12, there were about 700 people protesting in downtown Fredericton.
By Sunday, February 13, only about 50 people and fewer than 10 vehicles were
left. A small group continued demonstrating at the Legislature in Fredericton until
February 15, 2022.

15.8 Nova Scotia

On or about January 15, 2022, Nova Scotia Department of Justice officials began
to receive information through social media that a blockade of Highway 104 at, or
near, the border with New Brunswick was planned for January 29. Nova Scotia had
previously experienced a blockade of Highway 104 in June 2021 by people protesting
public health measures. The RCMP H Division (Nova Scotia) and J Division (New

Brunswick) shared operational information regarding the interprovincial border.

On January 28, the minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing issued a direction
pursuant the Emergency Management Act that prohibited vehicles from stopping,
parking, or operating in a manner that caused a partial or complete blockade of a road.
The direction also prohibited financing, organizing, aiding, encouraging, or supporting

the interruption of the normal flow of traffic.

On the day when the blockade was scheduled to go ahead, a snowstorm occurred
resulting in sections of Highway 104 being closed. Most vehicles were unable to get

to the location of the planned protest, and it never took place.
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16. Financial support for the Ottawa protests

Moving hundreds of people across the country and establishing them in Ottawa for
weeks required everything from fuel, food, and lodgings, to laundry, portable toilets,
and cooking equipment. In this section, | set out what the Commission learned about

how the Ottawa protests were sustained.

16.1 Early fundraisers

To raise money to support the Freedom Convoy, Tamara Lich created a GoFundMe
crowdfunding campaign on January 14, 2022. She began accepting email money
transfer donations on January 18. Both the GoFundMe and email money transfer
campaigns were set up to receive donations into an existing savings account that
Ms. Lich had with the Toronto-Dominion Bank (TD).

Within a few hours of its creation, the campaign came to the attention of GoFundMe
executives because of how quickly it was receiving donations. GoFundMe became
concerned about Ms. Lich’s ability to distribute the funds in accordance with the
campaign’s description, which indicated that the money would go to reimbursing
truckers for fuel costs. When a committee of volunteers who were helping Ms. Lich
manage the fundraiser contacted GoFundMe to ask them to release some of the
donations to Ms. Lich, the company asked for more information about how the money
would be used before doing so. After the committee provided the information and
reiterated their request for funds, GoFundMe asked Ms. Lich to sign a “Letter of

Attestation” confirming that she would only use the funds as outlined in the campaign.

Ms. Lich signed the letter on January 27. After receiving the letter, GoFundMe directed
its payment processor, Stripe, to initiate a CAD$1 million payment to Ms. Lich’s TD
account. The money was deposited into her account on February 2, though for

reasons | explain later, it was not accessible to her.
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While Ms. Lich was raising funds on GoFundMe, Chris Garrah was establishing a
second major fundraiser. In January 2022, Mr. Garrah participated in a video call with
several of the early organizers of the Freedom Convoy. During the call, he agreed to

help organize Ottawa-area protest supporters to prepare for the arrival of the convoy.

Mr. Garrah’s work took two forms: organizing local volunteers to provide things like food,
showers, and laundry services; and raising money to help pay for this local support.
Mr. Garrah termed this the “Adopt-A-Trucker” campaign and started fundraising on
a crowdfunding platform called GiveSendGo on January 18. The campaign was
connected to an account he had set up at the Royal Bank of Canada (RBC). Adopt-
A-Trucker would eventually develop its own website with the assistance of a man
identified only as “Serge” (no last name), whom Mr. Garrah had met while in Ottawa.

This website also solicited donations of cryptocurrencies, which Serge controlled.

16.2 The creation of the Freedom Corporation and the
suspension of the GoFundMe fundraiser

In between GoFundMe’s decision to release CAD$1 million to Ms. Lich and the money
arriving on February 2, GoFundMe continued to communicate with Ms. Lich’s volunteer
committee. Members of the committee felt that they were having difficulty dealing
with GoFundMe and wanted assistance. Mr. Garrah learned of these difficulties and
introduced the committee to his friend Chad Eros, a chartered professional accountant.

Mr. Eros agreed to assist.

Mr. Eros believed that the fundraiser should not have been set up to connect to
Ms. Lich’s personal bank account. On January 30, Mr. Eros incorporated the Freedom
2022 Human Rights and Freedoms Non-Profit Corporation (Freedom Corporation)
and offered it to be used to receive donations. The convoy organizers agreed, and

several of them were added as directors.

By the end of January, GoFundMe became concerned that the fundraiser might be

violating its terms of service, which prohibit the explicit or implicit purpose of promoting
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hate, violence, discrimination, or the violation of any law. This led GoFundMe to seek
new assurances from the organizers that donations would not be given to anyone

who had engaged in unlawful acts. It did not receive an immediate response.

On February 2, GoFundMe suspended the fundraiser pending a further investigation.
On the same day, it had a call with OPS Deputy Chief Steve Bell. Deputy Chief Bell
told GoFundMe that the Ottawa protests involved residents being harassed, and that
there were concerns for safety and livability for the people of Ottawa. The next day,
GoFundMe spoke with Ottawa Mayor Jim Watson, who expressed concern about the

possibility of GoFundMe releasing additional funds.

On February 3, lawyer Keith Wilson, who was acting as legal counsel for the Freedom
Corporation, wrote a letter to GoFundMe answering the questions that had been asked
before the fundraiser was suspended. Later that day, representatives of GoFundMe
spoke with Ms. Lich, Mr. Wilson, Mr. Eros, and other organizers to discuss the fundraiser.
GoFundMe was not satisfied by the information it received. On February 4, in a second
phone call, OPS Deputy Chief Bell told GoFundMe that the situation was escalating
and that acts of violence were taking place. Later that day, GoFundMe decided to

remove the fundraiser from its platform and refund all donations.

16.3 The Freedom Convoy campaign moves to GiveSendGo

Meanwhile, a different group of people were attempting to move the Freedom Convoy
fundraiser from GoFundMe to GiveSendGo. This process was initiated by two men
associated with an American social media platform called CloutHub: founder Jeff
Brain and investor John Ballard. On January 26, Mr. Ballard contacted Jacob Wells,
the co-founder of GiveSendGo, to discuss working together to have the Freedom

Convoy use their respective services.

On January 31, Mr. Brain, Mr. Ballard, Mr. Wells, Mr. Eros, and James Peloso, a man
associated with the group Taking Back Our Freedoms (TBOF), had a call to discuss

the Freedom Convoy using GiveSendGo and CloutHub. While the Freedom Convoy
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never followed up with CloutHub, Mr. Eros did begin working with Mr. Wells to start a

fundraising campaign on GiveSendGo.

Creating a GiveSendGo campaign was complicated by the fact that the Freedom
Corporation did not have a bank account set up yet. Without a bank account, it could
not create an account with GiveSendGo’s payment processor, Stripe. Mr. Wells
proposed a temporary solution: While the Freedom Corporation worked to establish
a bank account, Mr. Wells would connect the Freedom Convoy 2022 campaign to his
own Stripe account. Mr. Eros agreed to this plan, and on January 31, the GiveSendGo

Freedom Convoy 2022 campaign went live.

Mr. Eros eventually created a Stripe account for the Freedom Convoy by linking
it to Keith Wilson’s trust account. On or about February 7, Mr. Wells switched the
GiveSendGo fundraiser over from his Stripe account to the one created by Mr. Eros.
On February 8, Stripe notified Mr. Eros that they had put a pause on his account.
Mr. Eros reached out to Mr. Wells, and Mr. Wells switched the fundraiser back to his

own Stripe account on either February 10 or 11.

16.4 Cryptocurrencies

In addition to more traditional forms of fundraising, people also donated
cryptocurrencies to support the protests. Earlier in this chapter, | mention that Adopt-
A-Trucker solicited such donations on its website. Patrick King was associated with
a short-lived project called Freedom Convoy Token. However, the most successful
campaign was a Bitcoin fundraiser started on January 27 by Ottawa resident Nicholas
St. Louis called “Honk Honk Hodl.” It raised nearly 21 Bitcoin, which was at the time
worth more than CAD$1 million.

16.5 Ongoing barriers to accessing money

Earlier in this section, | explain that GoFundMe released CAD$1 million to Tamara

Lich before suspending her fundraiser. Ms. Lich also accumulated more than
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CAD$400,000 in email money transfers. However, she was never able to use much of
this money. The day after GoFundMe deposited donated funds into her TD account,
TD emailed Ms. Lich to say it had placed a temporary hold on the funds because
it appeared that the money was being held in trust for beneficiaries other than her.
Following unsatisfactory discussions between Ms. Lich and TD on February 6 and 10,

the bank implemented a freeze on her accounts.

On February 10, the attorney general of Ontario applied to the Ontario Superior Court
of Justice for a “restraint order” under section 490.8 of the Criminal Code regarding
the money raised on GiveSendGo. The premise of the application was that the money
being raised by both the Freedom Convoy 2022 campaign and the Adopt-A-Trucker
campaign met the legal definition of “offence-related property.” The Court granted
the application, prohibiting anyone from disposing of the Freedom Convoy 2022 or

Adopt-A-Trucker money.

On February 14, TD applied to the Ontario Superior Court of Justice for an
“‘interpleader,” which is an order to pay funds into the court. TD’s position was that
the money in Ms. Lich’s account belonged to “the truckers,” but it had no way of
identifying who “the truckers” were. TD wanted the Court to hold the money until its

proper ownership could be determined.

On February 17, Ottawa resident Zexi Li obtained what is known as a Mareva
injunction. This is a court order that is brought as part of a civil lawsuit and designed to
preserve a defendant’s assets pending the outcome of the case. Ms. Li had previously
commenced a class action on behalf of downtown Ottawa residents against various
Freedom Convoy organizers. In granting a Mareva injunction, the court prohibited
the defendants from dealing in any way with all funds held in the bank accounts
that Chris Garrah and Tamara Lich used to collect donations, as well as a range of

cryptocurrency donations.
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On February 28, 2022, the terms of the Mareva injunction were varied to appoint an
escrow agent. The funds targeted by the Mareva injunction, as well as the money
TD had sought to pay into court, were transferred to the escrow agent, who was

mandated to hold them pending the outcome of Ms. Li’s class action.

16.6 Sources and destination of donations

According to information provided by GoFundMe, the Freedom Convoy 2022
campaign hosted on that platform had 133,836 donors. Approximately 107,000
donations originated in Canada (86%), 14,000 in the United States (11%), and 4,000
originated from 80 other countries (3%). According to GoFundMe, the campaign
raised approximately CAD$10,060,000 before it was shut down. CAD$9 million
originated from Canada (89%), CAD$870,000 originated from the United States (9%),
and CAD$190,000 originated from 80 other countries (2%).

Email money transfer donations totalling CAD$419,416.63 were made to the Freedom
Convoy campaign. There were approximately 3,000 transfers, all of which originated

from Canadian domiciled financial institutions.

The money raised by Ms. Lich through the original Freedom Convoy 2022
fundraisers ended up in three places. The bulk was refunded to donors by
GoFundMe. Ms. Lich was able to access CAD$26,000, which she spent on fuel
payments to bulk fuel providers and other items. The remaining funds were handed

over to the escrow agent.

According to information provided by GiveSendGo, the Adopt-A-Trucker campaign
had 8,380 donors. Canada was the country of origin for 3,640 donations (43%),
while 4,293 came from the United States (51%), and 447 from other countries (5%).
A total of USD$591,789.18 was donated to the Adopt-A-Trucker campaign. Of this,
USD$327,843.13 originated in Canada (55%), USD$244,526.10 from the United
States (41%), and USD$19,419.95 from other countries (3%).
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Documents from RBC showed that, between February 7 and 11, Mr. Garrah received
170 email money transfers worth CAD$31,067.

According to Stripe, it processed CAD$793,584.74 in donations to the Adopt-A-Trucker
campaign. It paid out CAD$330,470.92 to Mr. Garrah’s RBC account. Stripe turned
over CAD$375,999.68 to the escrow agent. The remaining funds were accounted for

by credit card chargeback and other account actions.

Approximately CAD$220,000 was withdrawn from Mr. Garrah’s RBC account
between January 31 and February 11, when it was restrained. This includes
approximately CAD$150,000 in cash withdrawals, bank drafts, and other transfers
and CAD$10,553.44 in payments to the Swiss Hotel.

According to information provided by GiveSendGo, the Freedom Convoy 2022
campaign hosted on that platform had 113,152 donors. Canada was the country
of origin for 39,498 donations (35%), while 67,264 came from the United States
(59%), and 6,390 from other countries (6%). A total of USD$9,776,559.50 was
donated to this campaign. Of this, USD$4,627,660.00 originated in Canada (47%),
USD$4,593,686.50 originated in the United States (47%), and USD$555,213.00

originated in other countries (6%).

While the fundraiser was connected to the Stripe account in the name of Chad Eros,
it received CAD$3,763,180.40 in donations. These funds were never paid out, and
CAD$3,401,844.30 was handed over to the escrow agent. For money donated while
the GiveSendGo Freedom Convoy 2022 campaign was connected to Jacob Wells’

Stripe account, it appears that the donations were refunded to donors.

According to RCMP documents, the Adopt-A-Trucker cryptocurrency campaign
raised approximately USD$6,040 (CAD$7,685.90) as of February 15, 2022.
Of this, CAD$3,847.13 was paid to the escrow agent, while CAD$3,838.77 was

unaccounted for.
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The Honk Honk Hodl fundraiser raised approximately 21 Bitcoin. On February 16,
14.4048 Bitcoin was distributed into 100 wallets, each containing the equivalent of
CAD$8,019.43 at the time. Mr. St. Louis and an unknown individual distributed 100
physical envelopes, each containing unique instructions on how to access one wallet,
to truckers in Ottawa. Of the 100 wallets that were distributed, 40 remained untouched

as of early November 2022.

On February 28, police executed a search warrant on the home of Mr. St. Louis and
seized four Bitcoin wallets. | note that, as far as the Commission is aware, Mr. St. Louis
has not been charged with any criminal offence. Eventually, approximately 7.57 Bitcoin

derived from the Honk Honk Hodl fundraiser was transferred to the escrow agent.

16.7 Physical currency

During the Ottawa protests, there were many locations where individuals could drop
off cash donations. One such location was the main stage on Wellington Street,
where a water jug was placed to collect donations to Adopt-A-Trucker. The donations
that were dropped off there made their way to the Swiss Hotel. Mr. Eros estimated
that these donations sometimes reached up to CAD$20,000 per day. Brigitte Belton
testified that a similar, unrelated cash distribution system operated out of the ARC
Hotel. Unsure what to do with the money, Mr. Eros created a system to distribute

envelopes containing CAD$500 to truckers.

16.8 Funding protests outside of Ottawa

The Commission did not receive any information suggesting that funds raised by the

Ottawa protest organizers were sent to any border protests.
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17. Invoking the Emergencies Act

The decision to invoke the Emergencies Act was the culmination of multiple streams
of information working their way through the complex machinery of the government. A
wide range of federal actors were obtaining, assessing, and passing on information,
along with their own views and opinions, during a period characterized by imperfect

information, uncertainty, high stakes, and an evolving situation on the ground.

17.1 Context and concurrent events

The events of the Freedom Convoy did not occur in a vacuum. Several of the withesses
from the Federal Government testified that the Government’s response could only be
understood in the context of other significant events that were occurring in January
and February 2022.

At the start of 2022, federal officials viewed the Canadian economy as fragile. It was
only starting to emerge from the impact of COVID-19 health measures. The pandemic
had placed a significant strain on supply chains. Inflation was rising. The chronic
issue of business investment in Canada was particularly acute, a problem that was
compounded by increasing American protectionism, exemplified through its “Build
Back Better” legislation. As originally drafted, this legislation contained significant
incentives for car companies to build electric cars exclusively in the United States.
Given that electric vehicles are the future of the automotive industry, the Federal
Government felt that this would have been devastating for the Canadian automotive
sector. Canadian officials were fighting for changes that would permit continued
manufacturing in Canada. A key argument was that the United States needed Canada
as much as Canada needed the United States, and that Canada was a reliable trading

partner.

Several witnesses also noted that, at the same time as the Freedom Convoy protests

were taking place, Russia was preparing to invade Ukraine. While Russia’s illegal
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invasion did not commence until February 24, 2022, the federal government received

intelligence as early as December 2021, warning of an invasion.

17.2 Federal monitoring and coordination

In the weeks leading up to the invocation of the Emergencies Act, federal officials
received information, intelligence, and assessments from various departments and
agencies. Several RCMP units were involved in the collection and assessment of
information during the convoy. The CBSA had various intelligence teams undertake
assessments that focused on threats at or near POEs. The Canadian Security
Intelligence Service (CSIS) focused on investigating its existing subjects, but also
monitored the protests to determine whether other individuals were mobilizing
toward serious violence. The Privy Council Office (PCO) and National Security and

Intelligence Advisor (NSIA) Jody Thomas played key roles in coordinating this work.

Notwithstanding all of the federal entities gathering intelligence, there was a sense
that gaps remained. NSIA Thomas identified a gap related to the collection of open-
source information from social media. While police collected this information for law
enforcement purposes, CSIS was more limited in what it could investigate. The federal
government does not have a clear legislative framework, appropriate policies, or the
necessary technological tools to collect this information while respecting privacy

rights.

NSIA Thomas further stated that it was sometimes difficult to know how to interact with
law enforcement agencies due to concerns about their operational independence.
Apprehension about federal officials not crossing the line meant that, in her view,
there was useful information that could have been provided to decision makers but

was not.

The first recorded formal meeting of public servants in which the convoy was discussed
was the January 25 meeting of the Assistant Deputy Ministers’ National Security

Operations Committee (ADM NS Ops), a body that coordinates actions among
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national security agencies and ensures situational awareness across the federal
government. Daily meetings of that committee were convened from January 26 until
February 12. The Deputy Ministers’ Committee on Operational Coordination (DMOC),
a deputy minister-level national security body, began to hold ad hoc meetings on
January 31, first to maintain situational awareness, and later to discuss what tools the

Federal Government did or did not have to respond to the protests.

On January 26, RCMP Commissioner Lucki briefed Public Safety Minister Mendicino
and Minister of Intergovernmental Affairs Dominic LeBlanc about the convoy. Ministerial
briefings continued at least once every day. The attendees at these meetings varied,
but generally included Minister Blair, Minister LeBlanc, and Minister Mendicino, as
well as representatives from the PCO, the Prime Minister’s Office, the RCMP, CSIS,
Transport Canada, the CBSA, and the Department of Justice.

On Sunday, January 30, 2022, officials within the PCO watched a press conference
held by convoy organizers, which led them to realize that the protesters were not
leaving Ottawa. That same day, the Clerk of the Privy Council gave the Prime Minister
his first formal briefing on the convoy. Ministers became further engaged through
the Cabinet Committee on Safety, Security, and Emergencies (SSE), which met on
February 3, 6, and 8 to discuss the convoy. After the SSE’s February 8 meeting, the
Prime Minister transferred the management of the file to the Incident Response Group
(IRG). The IRG is a special emergency committee, chaired by the prime minister, that is
convened in response to national crises. Its task is to develop and coordinate a prompt
federal response. Unlike other Cabinet committees or the full Cabinet, IRG meetings
involve direct participation by senior members of the public service, as well as ministers.

The first IRG meeting related to the Freedom Convoy was on February 10, 2022.
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17.3 Interactions with external stakeholders

Throughout the convoy, interactions between the federal, provincial, territorial, and

municipal governments varied in terms of their purposes and formality.

Transport Canada played a major role in the federal response to the protests by
developing a document called the Strategic Enforcement Strategy. It had two parts:
communication and enforcement. The communication component was a response
to the fact that many protesters did not believe that they were doing anything
illegal. It called for consistent communication to protesters about the illegal nature
of their conduct. The enforcement component involved identifying the spectrum of
enforcement authorities available to police, provincial transportation authorities, and
others that could be used where commercial trucks or other vehicles were involved
in unlawful protests or demonstrations. The strategy required the co-operation of

provinces, territories, and municipalities to succeed.

On February 7, senior Transport Canada officials participated in the meeting of the
Federal, Provincial, and Territorial Crime Prevention and Policing Committee. At the
meeting, Deputy Minister of Transport Michael Keenan presented an early version of
the Strategic Enforcement Strategy. Alberta and Ontario provided mixed feedback.
Deputy Minister Keenan felt that Ontario’s response was “slightly cooler” than the
other provinces. On February 8, Deputy Minister Keenan received a letter from Ontario
Deputy Minister of Transportation Laurie LeBlanc, which Deputy Minister Keenan
described as collaborative and collegial in tone, but negative and disappointing in
substance. He interpreted the letter as a polite but firm “no” to Transport Canada’s

strategy.

Global Affairs Canada (GAC) is responsible for ensuring security for diplomatic
missions in Ottawa. As protest activity intensified, GAC began to receive formal and

informal complaints